**Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository** 

8-28-2023 1:00 PM

# Understanding the information needs of clients and caregivers regarding early psychosis: A conventional content analysis

Tanvin K. Juneja, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Anderson, Kelly K., The University of Western Ontario A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Health Information Science degree in Health Information Science © Tanvin K. Juneja 2023

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd



Part of the Mental and Social Health Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Juneja, Tanvin K., "Understanding the information needs of clients and caregivers regarding early psychosis: A conventional content analysis" (2023). Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. 9585. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/9585

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

#### **Abstract**

A first episode of psychosis is defined by the first presentation of psychotic symptoms that have gone untreated, characterized by a loss of contact with reality and significant declines in functioning. Low psychosis literacy among clients and caregivers can result in a delay in receiving treatment. This study sought to understand the information needs of clients and caregivers regarding early psychosis. Using a conventional content analysis, we conducted a secondary analysis of 64 transcripts from clients, caregivers, family physicians, and early psychosis intervention clinicians. Clients and caregivers often described having difficulties recognizing symptoms of early psychosis until they became overt and disturbing. The results suggest there should be greater awareness of the symptoms of psychosis, more information regarding the causes of psychosis, and information on services for psychosis for clients and caregivers. Educational initiatives aimed at increasing psychosis literacy may increase the perceived need for support and promote help-seeking behaviours.

## Keywords

First-episode psychosis, early psychosis intervention, mental health problems, psychoeducation, psychosis literacy, mental health literacy, public education

#### Summary for Lay Audience

A first episode of psychosis occurs when a person loses contact with reality, which can lead to a decrease in their daily functioning. Psychosis literacy is knowing what psychosis is, what symptoms it can look like, and what are treatment options. Low psychosis literacy can cause a delay in knowing when to get help. The purpose of this study was to understand the information needs of clients and caregivers regarding early psychosis. Using a conventional content analysis, we conducted a secondary analysis of 64 transcripts from clients, caregivers, family physicians, and early psychosis intervention clinicians. Clients and caregivers shared they usually have a hard time recognizing the symptoms of early psychosis from normal behaviour. The results also suggest that there should be more information about what psychosis can look like and where to find the right support. Public education programs can help people know when they may be experiencing symptoms of psychosis and when they should get help from professionals.

## Co-Authorship Statement

Tanvin Juneja completed this thesis project under the supervision of Dr. Kelly K. Anderson and under the advisement of Dr. Richard Booth. Tanvin Juneja was involved in the development and design of the thesis, in the data cleaning and conducting a conventional content analysis of the data, and in writing the first drafts of the paper and revising the subsequent drafts. Dr. Kelly K. Anderson was involved in informing the design of the study, in the conventional content analysis plan, in the interpretation of data, and in providing valuable insights during the critical revisions of the article for intellectual integrity. Dr. Richard Booth was involved in the qualitative interpretation of data and in the critical revision of the article for intellectual integrity.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Kelly K. Anderson for all your guidance and support. I am very grateful I was given the opportunity to take on this project as an extension of your previous work. I would also like to thank Dr. Richard Booth, for your ongoing support throughout my degree and for providing me with valuable insight for my thesis and overall career. Regardless of the challenges I faced, you were extremely supportive in helping me solve them.

Next, I would like to acknowledge and thank my close friends for their constant support, encouragement, and motivation. Thank you for believing in me and reminding me that I am capable of doing anything I set my mind to.

Last, I would like to thank my parents and my siblings. Mom and dad, thank you for trusting my decisions and investing in my education. I am eternally grateful for your unwavering support and faith as I paved my own path. To my brother and my sister, thank you for being my rocks during all the ups and downs life has thrown. I am forever grateful for the help, advice, and support both of you have given me.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Summary for Lay Audience	iii
Co-Authorship Statement	iv
Acknowledgements	v
List of Tables	viii
Chapter 1	1
1 Introduction and Background	1
1.1 Thesis Overview	1
1.2 Mental Disorders	2
1.3 Psychotic Disorders	3
1.4 Psychosis Symptoms	3
1.5 Impact of Psychosis on the Individual	4
1.5.1 Warning Signs, Prodromal Phase, and Acute Phase of Psychosis	4
1.5.2 Disruption of Career Development and Social Networks	6
1.6 Impact on Family Members	7
1.7 Duration of Untreated Psychosis	9
1.8 Pathways to Care	10
Chapter 2	12
2 Literature Review	12
2.1 Mental Health Literacy	12
2.2 Knowledge and Beliefs about Psychotic Disorders	14
2.2.1 Lack of Knowledge and Recognition	14
2.2.2 Culture-Specific Beliefs of Mental Disorders and Causes	15
2.2.3 Perceived Weakness Associated with Psychosis	16
2.3 Barriers to Help-Seek Behaviours	16
2.3.1 Misleading Assumptions of Treatment	16
2.3.2 Low Perceived Need for Support	17
2.3.3 Fear of Stigma/Prejudiced Beliefs	18
2.3.4 Lack of Supportive Social Networks	20
2.3.5 Other Barriers	20
2.4 Enablers of Seeking Treatment for Psychosis	21

2.4.1 Higher Psychosis Literacy	21
2.4.2 High Perceived Need	22
2.4.3 Presence of Social Support	23
2.5 Study Rationale and Objectives	24
Chapter 3	26
3 Methods	26
3.1 Situating the Current Study	26
3.2 Study Design	26
3.3 Sample Recruitment	27
3.4 Data Collection	28
3.5 Data Analysis	29
3.6 Rigor and Self-Reflexivity	29
Chapter 4	32
4 Results	32
4.1 Current Knowledge of Where to Seek Health Services and Information	33
4.2 Knowledge of Symptoms and Recognition of FEP	35
4.3 Information People Wish They Knew/People Should Know About Psychosis	38
Chapter 5	42
5 Discussion	42
5.1 Summary of Findings	42
5.1.1 Knowledge of Services and Supports	42
5.1.2 Associating Symptoms with a Psychotic Disorder	44
5.1.3 Information Needs	45
5.1.4 Contributions to Future Research	46
5.2 Limitations	47
5.3 Conclusion	49
References	50
Curriculum Vitae	59

# List of Tables

Table 1: Interviewee Demographics	Table	1: Interviewe	ee Demographics		3	32
-----------------------------------	-------	---------------	-----------------	--	---	----

#### Chapter 1

#### 1 Introduction and Background

#### 1.1 Thesis Overview

Mental disorders are one of the leading causes of disability (Rehm & Shield, 2019). If left untreated, symptoms of mental disorders can worsen, causing distress and disruption in daily functioning. Severe psychiatric symptoms can result in a crisis and even suicide (COVID-19 Mental Disorders Collaborators, 2021). Research indicates that family members and caregivers play a vital role in motivating the individual to seek treatment (Goulding et al., 2008). Mental disorders can also negatively impact family members and caregivers. Taking care of and supporting a person with a mental disorder can take a significant toll on family members' mental health, employment, income, and social relationships, and can restrict their daily activities and personal life (Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Moudatsou et al., 2021; Selick et al., 2017)

Psychotic disorders, such as schizophrenia, are one type of mental disorder that impacts typical brain activity and function by altering a person's perceptions, thoughts, and beliefs. As a result, people who experience psychotic disorders can have trouble separating their perceptions and experiences from reality due to hallucinations, delusions, and disorganized thoughts and behaviours (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013). A first episode of psychosis (FEP) is defined by the first presentation of psychosis symptoms that have gone untreated with antipsychotic medication in which there is a significant decline in daily functioning (Breitborde et al., 2009; McGorry et al., 2008; Perkins et al., 2005).

Although there are numerous evidence-based treatments available for psychotic disorders, clients and their family members face several barriers when seeking services and treatment, resulting in a prolonged duration of untreated psychosis (DUP). There is robust evidence from systematic reviews and meta-analyses that indicate a longer DUP is associated with poorer recovery and treatment outcomes, lower quality of life, and heightened distress for family members and caregivers (Marshall et al., 2005; Penttilä et al., 2014; Selick et al., 2017). One widely reported barrier to help-seeking is a lack of mental health literacy regarding

psychosis, known as psychosis literacy, which is the knowledge and awareness of psychosis, attribution to illness, and ability to navigate professional services (Addington et al., 2012; Jorm, 2000; López et al., 2018). A review of the literature suggests that the general population has low levels of psychosis literacy (Addington et al., 2012; López et al., 2018; Sutton et al., 2018).

It has been shown that increasing psychosis literacy through health promotion interventions and educational campaigns targeted toward the general population can increase awareness of psychosis and promote early intervention, thus shortening the DUP (Calderon et al., 2015; Casas et al., 2014; Hastrup et al., 2018; López et al., 2018; Selick et al., 2017). In order to decrease the barriers to help-seeking, it is important to educate the individual and their family members and caregivers regarding psychosis. This requires understanding what information is needed so effective educational interventions can be created (Addington et al., 2012).

The goal of the current study was to understand the information needs of people with a first episode of psychosis and their caregivers in Ontario, Canada. A secondary analysis (conventional content analysis) was conducted of qualitative interviews from a larger project focused on the role of primary care in early psychosis intervention that included the perspectives of patients, caregivers, and service providers.

#### 1.2 Mental Disorders

Mental disorders are defined by a change in behaviour, thinking, or emotion (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013). A mental disorder can cause distress or problems when completing daily tasks and responsibilities. This involves problems functioning in one's work, social, or family activities. Mental disorders can impact any person regardless of gender, age, race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, social status, or cultural identity (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Jorm, 2000). Mental disorders are considered to be "chronic diseases of the young" (McGorry, 2005). A systematic review of the World Health Organization mental health surveys by Kessler et al. (2007) found that mental disorders that present in adulthood usually had their onset during childhood or late adolescence.

#### 1.3 Psychotic Disorders

Psychotic disorders – such as schizophrenia and bipolar disorder with psychotic features – are a category of mental disorders that impact typical brain activity and function by altering a person's perceptions, thoughts, and beliefs (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013). As a result, people who experience psychotic disorders can have trouble separating their perceptions and experiences from reality (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The exact causes of psychosis remain uncertain. Research indicates that vulnerability to a psychotic disorder may be related to environmental and genetic factors that influence early brain development (Perkins et al., 2005). Some examples of psychotic disorders include schizoid disorder, delusional disorder, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Keshavan et al., 2020). In 2021, it was reported that the prevalence of schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders in the Canadian population was 4% – this is equivalent to over 1.5 million Canadians who are directly impacted by psychotic disorders, and even more family members or caregivers who are indirectly impacted (Lecomte et al., 2022).

#### 1.4 Psychosis Symptoms

A first episode of psychosis (FEP) is defined by the first presentation of psychosis symptoms that have gone untreated with antipsychotic medication and significantly interferes with daily functioning (Breitborde et al., 2009; McGorry et al., 2008; Perkins et al., 2005). Psychotic symptoms – such as delusions, hallucinations, and disorganized thought and behaviour patterns – are debilitating and usually require psychiatric treatment (DSM–5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The symptoms of a psychotic disorder can present gradually or suddenly (McGorry et al., 2007; Välimäki et al., 2008). Psychosis can have a substantial influence on a person's life, including their educational, social, and career development (DSM–5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Norman et al., 2005; Reed, 2008). In addition, psychosis can also have a profound impact indirectly on the lives of family members or caregivers as they navigate how to care for the person that is presenting symptoms of psychosis (Arora & Khoo, 2020; Gronholm et al., 2017; Lu et al., 2021; McGorry et al., 2008; Mueser et

al., 2020; Thomson et al., 2015). This typically includes balancing feelings of burden, guilt, exhaustion, and sometimes even embarrassment and shame due to the stigma associated with psychotic disorders (Burke et al., 2016; Compton et al., 2008; Jansen et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2019; McGorry et al., 2008).

People with psychosis typically experience a range of symptoms that are categorized as "positive" or "negative" (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The positive symptoms are added to a person's experience, such as hearing or seeing things, and the presence of delusions. Negative symptoms of psychosis are symptoms that are reduced or removed from a person's experience, such as social withdrawal and a reduction of emotion or motivation (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Franz et al., 2010; McGorry et al., 2010).

#### 1.5 Impact of Psychosis on the Individual

Psychosis typically develops during late adolescence or early adulthood, which is a sensitive developmental period in a person's life (McGorry et al., 2007). It is during this time that people begin to form their peer networks, transition from family dependence to independence, develop their personality, explore sexual behaviours and interests, and figure out their role in the world (*Adolescent Health*, n.d.; McGorry et al., 2008; Reed, 2008). The onset of psychosis during this already vulnerable and difficult time creates a new set of challenges for the person to navigate (Perkins et al., 2005). Oftentimes, the symptoms of psychosis can disrupt the process of maintaining their social networks, developing their career, and advancing their education, which can lead to a person experiencing significant distress and social isolation (McGorry et al., 2008; Reed, 2008).

# 1.5.1 Warning Signs, Prodromal Phase, and Acute Phase of Psychosis

Prior to the insidious onset of a FEP, a person can show changes in their behaviour. For adolescents, this can include a sudden drop in their grades or job performance and difficulty thinking clearly or concentrating (Hardy et al., 2018; Mueser et al., 2020; Reed, 2008). Some

people may become more irritable, talk about their paranoid thoughts, or have difficulty telling reality from fantasy (Burke et al., 2016; Ferrara et al., 2021; Reed, 2008). Other common warning signs may include social withdrawal, a decline in self-care or personal hygiene, or displaying inappropriate emotions. There also may be an unusual sensitivity to stimuli, reduced speech, increased memory problems, and significant personality changes (Ahmed et al., 2020; Casas et al., 2014; López et al., 2018; McGorry et al., 2008; Mishra et al., 2021; Reed, 2008; Yarborough et al., 2019; Yeo et al., 2006). Prior research shows that several of these warning signs typically appear in the prodromal phase of psychosis. This is the period when most behavioural symptoms are displayed (Ahmed et al., 2020; Dutta et al., 2019; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Jansen et al., 2015; Reed, 2008; Välimäki et al., 2008; Yeo et al., 2006).

During the acute phase of psychosis, the individual often has difficulty making sense of their experience, and this can lead to significant confusion, fear, and a sense of losing control of themselves. Symptoms that are characteristic of psychosis are typically displayed during the onset of the acute stage (Compton et al., 2008; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Mishra et al., 2021; Nishii et al., 2010; Reed, 2008; Yarborough et al., 2019). This includes the following:

Hallucinations: a hallucination is a false or misleading perception of an event or object that involves any one of the following senses: visual, auditory, olfactory, tactile, and gustatory. For an individual experiencing a hallucination, the false perspective may seem real even though it is not. Hallucinations can be caused by substance use or chemical imbalances in the brain (Ahmed et al., 2020; Casas et al., 2014; López et al., 2009, 2018).

*Delusions*: a delusion is a firmly held and unshakeable belief about something that is not true. Even with proof of truth or reality, a person experiencing a delusion is often unable to change their belief (Ahmed et al., 2020; Casas et al., 2014; López et al., 2009, 2018).

Disorganized symptoms, such as thought disorder (ex. disorganized speech) and disorganized behaviour, can also be characteristic of psychosis.

Thought disorder: this can be characterized by disorganized thoughts, speech, or behaviour that can lead to abnormal ways of expressing oneself. A person experiencing a thought disorder may exhibit behaviours or talk about things that do not align with their environment or

situation (Ahmed et al., 2020; Casas et al., 2014; López et al., 2009, 2018).

*Disorganized behaviour:* this can be categorized by odd or bizarre behaviours that can be purposeless or random, and can involve ambivalent movements or unpredictable agitation. A person displaying disorganized behaviour may dress inappropriately (ex. wearing clothes that don't match the weather) or display inappropriate emotional responses. A person may also present catatonic symptoms that indicate a motor disturbance which can involve decreased motor activity or excessive motor activity (DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

These symptoms can become severe if they are not appropriately addressed and can threaten the person's ability to reason. It can also alter their self-concept. As a result, these experiences are often very distressing. The onset of the acute phase of psychosis can disrupt the individual's plans for their education, career, and social goals (Jansen et al., 2015; McGorry et al., 2010; McGorry et al., 2008; Reed, 2008; Välimäki et al., 2008; Yarborough et al., 2019).

#### 1.5.2 Disruption of Career Development and Social Networks

Other impacts that psychosis can have on the individual is a disruption of career development and social networks. A person's erratic or aggressive behaviour, paired with the negative and stigmatizing attitudes associated with psychotic disorders, can cause family, friends, colleagues, and peers to distance themselves from the person, often because they are afraid or unsure of how they may act (Ahmed et al., 2020; Burke et al., 2016; Chong et al., 2005; Franz et al., 2010; Gronholm et al., 2017; He et al., 2020; Kular et al., 2019). The symptoms of psychosis can also make it hard to maintain close or intimate friendships or may lead to a decrease in job performance. This disturbance in the individual's social life can often lead to feelings of embarrassment, being stigmatized, loneliness, and increased isolation. This results in an overall decrease in social relationships and the desire to participate in social or work activities, further fuelling social withdrawal (Compton et al., 2008; Dutta et al., 2019; Goulding et al., 2008; Yeo et al., 2006). People experiencing these symptoms tend to feel a range of emotions such as shame and fear of not being in control. Many of these feelings can lead to the development of depression, especially as the person begins to understand the gravity of their

diagnosis, and this can result in feelings of loss for their life, career, dreams, and goals (Burke et al., 2016; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Mueser et al., 2020; Nishii et al., 2010; Reed, 2008; Yeo et al., 2006). People with FEP are at a significantly higher risk of suicide ideation, attempt, and death (Anderson et al., 2018b; McGorry et al., 2010; Nanda et al., 2016; Reed, 2008; Välimäki et al., 2008).

#### 1.6 Impact on Family Members

The symptoms of psychosis can have a profound impact on a person's family or caregiver, especially during a first episode of psychosis (Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2019; Moudatsou et al., 2021). A caregiver is any person who provides support to a patient or person in need, and can be an immediate family member, a relative, a friend, or a neighbour (Moudatsou et al., 2021). Taking care of and supporting a person with psychosis can take a significant toll on family members' mental health, employment, income, and social relationships, and can restrict their daily activities and personal life (Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Moudatsou et al., 2021; Selick et al., 2017). Typically after a first episode of psychosis, the emotional and physical burden of support and care is the responsibility of family members or caregivers. This can add to existing feelings of anxiety and stress, especially as they try to navigate their own feelings (Moudatsou et al., 2021; Selick et al., 2017). The unpredictable nature and severity of hallucinations, delusions, or disorganized thoughts and behaviours can also result in feelings of fear for their own safety (Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Selick et al., 2017).

Many family members express feelings of loss and grief for the person's future and goals that they feel will likely not be achieved. Parents may grieve the future that they hoped their child will have and change their expectations regarding their career, education, and marriage (Ahmed et al., 2020; Burke et al., 2016; Reed, 2008; Selick et al., 2017; Yeo et al., 2006). People who experience psychosis in early adulthood can make aging parents feel like they are taking on the parenting role again, and increase feelings of worry about what will happen to their child if they are unable to care for them (Yarborough et al., 2019). Partners and spouses also feel similar emotions, but may also want to distance themselves emotionally or physically from the person experiencing symptoms (Jansen et al., 2015). Overall, this can increase despair and hopelessness

for family members and caregivers. Consequently, these emotions can negatively influence their attitudes toward the person with psychosis, resulting in a decrease in moral support and motivation for them (Goulding et al., 2008; Kumar et al., 2019; Reed, 2008).

Many family members also experience feelings of shame and embarrassment within their social networks as a result of the stigma and misconceptions surrounding psychosis. Family members experience high levels of stigma and negative attitudes that can cause them to withdraw from their social networks (Ahmed et al., 2020; Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Gronholm et al., 2017; Kular et al., 2019; Moudatsou et al., 2021; Selick et al., 2017).

Family members often attribute the early warning signs of psychosis to normal developmental behaviours (Franz et al., 2010; Jansen et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2019; Yarborough et al., 2019). This increases feelings of frustration towards the person with psychosis and decreases empathetic attitudes (Hasan & Musleh, 2017). Once the early symptoms begin to transition into more acute symptoms of psychosis, family members describe an increased perceived need for support which can facilitate help-seeking behaviours. This can add to the burden of guilt family members experience as they blame themselves for not recognizing the signs earlier (Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Kular et al., 2019; Mishra et al., 2021; Nishii et al., 2010).

It is crucial to also provide support and services to the family members and caregivers of people with psychosis, especially educational interventions that increase psychosis literacy (Moudatsou et al., 2021; Selick et al., 2017). Educational support and interventions regarding stress management, coping strategies, tools for empowerment, types of services available, as well as information on psychotic disorders, has been shown to benefit family members, leading to improvements in quality of life and increased empathy for the person with psychosis (Selick et al., 2017). For instance, Del Vecchio et al. (2015) found that preventative educational interventions can reduce the DUP by enabling family members to recognize deviations of an individual from their typical behaviour. This can increase their perceived need for support (Del Vecchio et al., 2015). Because family members are often key players that are involved in help-seeking for the person experiencing symptoms of psychosis, it is crucial that they are well-informed (Archie et al., 2010; Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2019; Yeo et al., 2006). Thus, to ensure that family members feel supported and to reduce their suffering, educational

interventions should be more targeted toward their needs (Selick et al., 2017).

## 1.7 Duration of Untreated Psychosis

The delay between the onset of symptoms of psychosis and the beginning of appropriate treatment is referred to as the duration of untreated psychosis (DUP) (Marshall et al., 2005). On average, this DUP typically lasts between 6 months and 2 years (Marshall et al., 2005). Some determinants of DUP include demographic factors, mode of onset of symptoms, family-level factors, coping capacity, and health service delays (Akçay Oruç & Gültekin, 2018; Compton et al., 2008, 2008; Hastrup et al., 2018; Perkins et al., 2005).

One contributing factor to treatment delays is the individual, or their family members, not seeking help (Akçay Oruç & Gültekin, 2018; Compton et al., 2008; Franz et al., 2010; Hastrup et al., 2018; Perkins et al., 2005). There are several reasons, and most are associated with low psychosis literacy, which refers to the ability to recognize symptoms of psychosis and the knowledge of services and treatment options available. One factor that impacts the general public's level of psychosis literacy is stigma. Many studies found that stigma creates a considerable barrier because people have limited understanding of their condition and desire to be perceived as normal (Compton et al., 2008; Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Dutta et al., 2019; Franz et al., 2010; Gronholm et al., 2017; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; He et al., 2020; Jansen et al., 2015; Kular et al., 2019; Mueser et al., 2020). Another reason is that people recognize symptoms as unproblematic and interpret them as normal developmental changes. For instance, sleep disturbances, depression, and withdrawal from social settings are typically perceived as normal adolescent behaviour (Ahmed et al., 2020; Bignall et al., 2015; Caplan, 2019; Ghali et al., 2013; Memon et al., 2016; S. Y. Park et al., 2013). Another cause for delay is a lack of support or motivation from family and friends to seek services and support (Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Kumar et al., 2019). Acute positive symptoms are often a strong motivator for treatment, as the symptoms become too severe to ignore, such as full-blown hallucinations and delusions that impair the ability to complete daily tasks (Chong et al., 2005; Kular et al., 2019; Mishra et al., 2021; Nishii et al., 2010).

Several studies suggest that a shorter DUP is associated with better recovery and

treatment outcomes. For instance, Fusar-Poli et al. (2017) and Valmaggia et al. (2015) found that treatment during the very early stages of psychosis, also known as the prodromal phase, is associated with high patient satisfaction, increased engagement with treatment, improved personal well-being and self-image, and better relations with their social networks. These findings were also confirmed in a systematic review and meta-analysis by Penttilä et al. (2014) and a critical review and meta-analysis by Perkins et al. (2005). These outcomes often resulted in a decreased perceived burden to the family, increased quality of life for the individual, and increased functioning in daily activities, such as work or school (Mishra et al., 2021). Many researchers have also found that a longer DUP may be associated with neurotoxicity, worsening of symptoms, poor quality of life, and negative treatment outcomes (Apeldoorn et al., 2014; Dutta et al., 2019; Franz et al., 2010; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Hastrup et al., 2018; Marshall et al., 2005; McGorry et al., 2007, 2008, 2010; Mishra et al., 2021; Mueser et al., 2020; Norman et al., 2005; Perkins et al., 2005; Reed, 2008; Ruggeri et al., 2015).

Early psychosis intervention (EPI) programs have been developed to recognize and treat symptoms of psychosis when they are in their early stages, with an aim of reducing the DUP. (Marshall et al., 2005; McGorry et al., 2007; Norman et al., 2005; Perkins et al., 2005). The components of EPI include pharmacotherapy, psychotherapy, case management, and family educational interventions and support (McGorry et al., 2008, 2010; Mishra et al., 2021; Schoer et al., 2021). In London Ontario (Canada), the Prevention and Early Intervention Program for Psychoses (PEPP) is the model used to provide clients with comprehensive and coordinated treatment (Norman & Manchanda, 2016). In order to promote help-seeking behaviours and facilitate early interventions by people with psychosis and their caregivers, educational interventions that help with early detection and symptom recognition are needed at the community level (Norman & Manchanda, 2016; Selick et al., 2017).

## 1.8 Pathways to Care

A pathway to care is the means by which an individual can access help from services and support for their health-related problems (Jansen et al., 2015). As the name implies, it is the series of help-seeking contacts taken to receive appropriate care (Anderson et al., 2010, 2018a; Jansen et al., 2015). Pathways to care are defined as steps of contacts with individuals and

organizations that are initiated by an individual experiencing distress, and by family members or caregivers to seek help and support (Rogler & Cortes, 1993). The components of a pathway to care involve understanding the help-seeking behaviours of service users, accessibility of health services, recognition of symptoms of psychosis, and the appropriate responses to symptoms (Anderson et al., 2010, 2018a; Jansen et al., 2015). Canadian research suggests that many people with FEP face barriers when trying to access specialized treatment programs that are targeted to treat psychosis (Anderson et al., 2010). Since early detection and the reduction of DUP are associated with better outcomes for people experiencing FEP, there is an emphasis to understand the best route to access and receive appropriate treatment (Anderson et al., 2010, 2018a).

#### Chapter 2

#### 2 Literature Review

The topic for this thesis involves understanding the information needs of clients and caregivers regarding early psychosis. This chapter will review prior literature on the current state of mental health literacy for psychosis, also known as psychosis literacy. The chapter is divided into three sections: knowledge and recognition of psychosis symptoms, barriers of help-seeking behaviours associated with psychosis literacy, and enablers of help-seeking behaviours. This literature review outlines the role of information in the appropriate and timely recognition of psychosis symptoms.

## 2.1 Mental Health Literacy

To facilitate the early identification of psychosis and help-seeking, the barriers that underpin help-seeking behaviours must be investigated (Akçay Oruç & Gültekin, 2018; Gronholm et al., 2017). It has been well-documented that a lack of recognition of symptoms of psychosis and a lack of knowledge of how to receive support are significant factors that can prolong the DUP (Akçay Oruç & Gültekin, 2018; Anderson et al., 2010; Ferrara et al., 2021; Goulding et al., 2008; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Lloyd-Evans et al., 2011; Mueser et al., 2020; Reed, 2008; Souaiby et al., 2019). This acts as a barrier for both the individual and their friends, family members, and caregivers. The knowledge and recognition of symptoms and treatment options are referred to as mental health literacy (Jorm, 2000). One widely accepted definition of mental health literacy is by Jorm et al. (2000) which defines it as the "knowledge and beliefs about mental disorders which aid their recognition, management, or prevention" (p.396). Thus, mental health literacy is threefold and a lack of knowledge in any category can act as a barrier to help-seeking behaviours (Jorm, 2012). Mental health literacy for psychosis, also referred to as psychosis literacy, would be similarly defined as the ability to recognize symptoms of psychosis, understand appropriate coping management skills, and seek timely treatment when needed (Addington et al., 2012; López et al., 2018). Recent research over the past decade reveals that the general population has low levels of psychosis literacy and high levels of stigmatizing beliefs regarding psychotic disorders that are not consistent with current medical models (Ahmed et al., 2020; Calderon et al., 2015; Franz et al., 2010; He et al., 2020; Jansen et al., 2015). Several studies have also found that one of the most common reasons for treatment delays involve low psychosis literacy, such as the unawareness of illness and high perceived stigma (Ahmed et al., 2020; Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Dutta et al., 2019; He et al., 2020; Kular et al., 2019). Low levels of psychosis literacy can lead a person to feel embarrassed when they experience symptoms of psychosis, consequently decreasing their self-confidence and self-image (Burke et al., 2016).

To facilitate help-seeking behaviours, the barriers that are associated with the recognition of psychosis symptoms and treatment-seeking must be investigated. Current efforts to increase psychosis literacy in the general population include public mental health promotion and educational campaigns that strive to promote the need for positive mental health (Calderon et al., 2015; Casas et al., 2014; Fusar-Poli et al., 2017; López et al., 2018; Selick et al., 2017; Yeo et al., 2006). For instance, they outline the importance of resilience, psychological well-being, and competence (Fusar-Poli et al., 2017). As a result, public mental health promotion and educational campaigns are a type of preventive intervention targeted toward the general public. Their primary objective is to raise awareness of psychosis and other mental disorders among the general population, specifically those who may be at risk of developing a psychotic disorder (Calderon et al., 2015; Casas et al., 2014; Fusar-Poli et al., 2017). One example of a community campaign is "La CLAve" (translation: "The Clue"), which is a psychoeducational tool targeted toward the Spanish-speaking population to increase their psychosis literacy across 4 domains: knowledge of psychosis, identification of psychosis symptoms, attributions to mental illness, and professional help-seeking (López et al., 2009)

It is known that family members and caregivers are crucial in providing support and motivation to seek treatment (Compton et al., 2008; Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Goulding et al., 2008; Kumar et al., 2019; Moudatsou et al., 2021). The person experiencing psychosis may be unaware of the deviations in their own behaviour, thus family members, friends, and caregivers may be more likely to recognize behavioural changes and promote help-seeking (Compton et al., 2008; Goulding et al., 2008; Selick et al., 2017). By understanding the gaps in psychosis literacy in families and social communities that act as barriers to help-seeking behaviours and deter

people from accessing treatment, better public health promotion and educational campaigns can be developed to educate the general population (Selick et al., 2017).

Literature regarding the current state of psychosis literacy amongst the general population suggests that there are varying perspectives on mental disorders and psychosis, and people experience numerous barriers to accessing services (Hasan & Musleh, 2017; He et al., 2020; O'Connell et al., 2022; Torres Stone et al., 2020a).

#### 2.2 Knowledge and Beliefs about Psychotic Disorders

#### 2.2.1 Lack of Knowledge and Recognition

One of the most common reasons for the delay in seeking treatment or support for psychotic symptoms is the lack of knowledge or a poor understanding of mental disorders, including psychotic disorders. To begin, participants from several studies shared that they initially thought the symptoms of psychosis were linked to a somatic illness, such as a seizure, fever, or jaundice (Dutta et al., 2019; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Jansen et al., 2015; Mishra et al., 2021). The misconceptions regarding psychosis symptoms can significantly impact one's beliefs and attitudes toward those who display these symptoms and thus the need for timely and appropriate medical treatment (Chong et al., 2005; O'Connell et al., 2022; Reed, 2008; Yarborough et al., 2019). As symptoms become more difficult to handle, individuals tend to isolate themselves from their family and friends because they do not understand what they are experiencing (Yarborough et al., 2019). Although people notice a deviation in their normal behaviour, a significant proportion of people with psychotic disorders do not attribute their symptoms to a mental disorder, especially not a psychotic disorder (Anderson et al., 2013a; Calderon et al., 2022; Yarborough et al., 2019). Consequently, they did not perceive the need to seek treatment for their symptoms (Anderson et al., 2013a; Calderon et al., 2022; Yarborough et al., 2019). This causes a significant delay in treatment-seeking because they do not associate their symptoms of psychosis as a psychiatric or psychological problem that requires medical treatment (Berger et al., 2006; Nkire et al., 2015; Torres Stone et al., 2020). Manifestations of early psychosis tend to be normalized in adolescence, such as being labelled as mood swings and irritability. Parents often attributed their child's anxiety, depression, and social withdrawal a result of academic stresses or changes due to puberty (Dixon De Silva et al. (2020) and C. Park et al. (2022). It is especially common among ethnic minority families to not recognize the early symptoms of psychosis as requiring medical treatment (Ahmed et al., 2020; Bignall et al., 2015; Caplan, 2019; Ghali et al., 2013; Memon et al., 2016; Park et al., 2013). In fact, Caplan (2019), Dixon De Silva et al. (2020), and Memon et al. (2016) found that many ethnic minority parents expressed that feelings of anxiety and depression were not considered to be real problems within their cultures. These results suggest that symptoms of psychosis are not generally identified among people with psychosis and their family members. Many studies also found that people often considered that mental health services are specifically for those who are "crazy" or experience severe symptoms (Arora & Khoo, 2020; Kular et al., 2019; Reed, 2008).

#### 2.2.2 Culture-Specific Beliefs of Mental Disorders and Causes

Consistent with several previous findings, the general population's perceptions regarding the causes of mental disorders are in some cases assumed to be a result of spiritual or supernatural events. In the context of receiving a formal diagnosis and medical treatment based on the Western model for psychotic disorders, the different understandings and beliefs of psychotic disorders with ethnic cultures can sometimes be seen as a barrier. For instance, research studies conducted with participants from Mexico, United States, Malaysia, Singapore, India, China, and Korea found that a majority of participants perceived that symptoms of psychosis are due to supernatural events, such as being possessed by demons, a result of black magic, evil spirits, or wrong-doing of ancestors (Chong et al., 2005; Dutta et al., 2019; Franz et al., 2010; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Mishra et al., 2021). These strongly-held beliefs regarding supernatural causes for psychosis were a significant barrier in medical treatment-seeking (Nishii et al., 2010). Instead, several individuals and their families first sought treatment and support from faith-based or traditional healers. This results in a further delay in receiving a formal diagnosis and seeking appropriate evidence-based treatment that aligns with the Western medical model (Chong et al., 2005; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Moudatsou et al., 2021). Several studies also found that many immigrant populations, such as Latinos, Chinese, Malay, and Indians,

considered that the positive symptoms of psychosis were due to the individual losing their soul, a punishment from god, or a lack of religiosity (Caplan, 2019; Chong et al., 2016; Dixon De Silva et al., 2020). These findings reveal the lack of psychosis literacy among the general population and the need to enhance the understanding of the causes of psychosis.

#### 2.2.3 Perceived Weakness Associated with Psychosis

In some populations, psychotic disorders were associated with weakness and laziness (Chong et al., 2016; Tieu et al., 2010; Yu et al., 2015). Patients, families, and caregivers who do not understand how mental disorders can manifest believed they should be able to manage the symptoms of psychosis on their own without formal treatment. Many studies found that participants attributed symptoms of psychosis as laziness, a weak mind, or a weakness in character (Arora & Khoo, 2020; Park et al., 2013; Salami et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2019). Thus, several ethnic populations do not recognize psychosis as a medical problem.

#### 2.3 Barriers to Help-Seek Behaviours

Overall, prior findings suggest that common barriers for seeking mental health services include misleading assumptions of treatment, low perceived need for support, stigma of psychosis, and a lack of social support from friends and family.

#### 2.3.1 Misleading Assumptions of Treatment

Several researchers report that the general population has misleading assumptions due to a lack of information regarding treatment for psychosis. As a result, this can lead to a delay in seeking treatment because of the associated negative attitudes (Ahmed et al., 2020; Burke et al., 2016; Franz et al., 2010; He et al., 2020; Kular et al., 2019). For instance, populations with low levels of psychosis literacy are skeptical of mental health professionals and believe that psychotherapy services are not effective. In some cases, people agreed that there may be some

benefits to seeking proper treatment, but did not believe that full recovery was possible (Nishii et al., 2010). Many ethnic minority groups, such as South East Asians (SEA), Hispanics, black minority ethnicities (BME) and Chinese, were found to have lower levels of psychosis literacy and many assumed that treatment for psychosis only involved pharmacological options, which was a deterrent to seeking support (Bignall et al., 2015; Dixon De Silva et al., 2020; Ghali et al., 2013; Memon et al., 2016; Saasa et al., 2021). This was also supported by Kumar et al. (2019), who found that patients and families who were receiving medication treatment were provided with little explanation or information as to the treatment protocol and how the medication would be helpful. Some findings also suggest that people are under the assumption that mental health support is only necessary when symptoms become severe or burdening (Hastrup et al., 2018; He et al., 2020).

#### 2.3.2 Low Perceived Need for Support

A low perceived need for support was reported to be a barrier to seeking treatment for symptoms of psychosis. Several studies reported comparable findings that people often underestimated their symptoms and considered them to be a passing phase (Dutta et al., 2019; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Mishra et al., 2021; Souaiby et al., 2019). Unfortunately, in the early stages, symptoms of psychosis can be confusing, unclear, and difficult to separate from usual developmental challenges (Jansen et al., 2015). Oftentimes, the negative symptoms of psychosis, such as social withdrawal, anxiety, and depression were less likely to be attributed to a mental disorder (Dutta et al., 2019; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Mishra et al., 2021; Souaiby et al., 2019). Due to a lack of insight, individuals were unable to identify their symptoms of psychosis as requiring medical treatment which resulted in lower self-initiated help-seeking since they did not perceive a need for support (Mishra et al., 2021). They were convinced that their distressing experiences were not disturbing enough to require medical treatment, or could be resolved on their own (Jansen et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2019; Nishii et al., 2010). After the onset of psychotic symptoms, help-seeking was predominantly initiated by family members and friends (Jansen et al., 2015).

Many parents and caregivers also do not perceive their child's early psychotic symptoms

as those needing attention (Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Jansen et al., 2015; Yarborough et al., 2019). Parents and caregivers often attributed the symptoms to typical adolescent behaviour which led to treatment delays (Jansen et al., 2015; Yarborough et al., 2019). Sometimes, symptoms of psychosis were misattributed to adolescent substance use, such as being under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Due to this, the severity of the symptoms is often underestimated and treatment was not perceived as being important (Franz et al., 2010; Jansen et al., 2015).

#### 2.3.3 Fear of Stigma/Prejudiced Beliefs

Stigma, prejudiced beliefs, and negative attitudes regarding mental disorders was also noted to be a barrier to help-seeking behaviours (Kular et al., 2019). Several studies have consistently shown that the general population is often unable to recognize symptoms of psychosis and or understand what causes them. By lacking knowledge related to psychotic disorders and their manifestations, further negative and stigmatizing perspectives of psychosis and service use are promoted because the common belief is that mental health services are only for individuals that have extreme mental disorders. As a result, people with psychosis face several barriers when seeking treatment and the delay in treatment can lead to detrimental effects on their psychological functioning (Anderson et al., 2013a; Compton et al., 2008; Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Dutta et al., 2019; Franz et al., 2010; Gronholm et al., 2017; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; He et al., 2020; Jansen et al., 2015; Kular et al., 2019; Mueser et al., 2020).

Broadly, stigma is defined as the presence of negative emotional reactions, labelling, stereotyping, and discriminating attitudes towards a population (Anderson et al., 2018a; Compton et al., 2008; Mueser et al., 2020)

Negative, stigmatizing beliefs and attitudes about psychosis are not only held by family members, friends, and the community, but also the individual. People with psychosis typically experience severe perceived stigma and fear of being labelled as "crazy." This can be due to the false stereotypical beliefs surrounding psychotic disorders, discriminatory behaviours, and display of negative affective reactions. A diagnosis of a psychotic disorder is often perceived to make the individual unpredictable, dangerous, and aggressive (Ahmed et al., 2020; Burke et al.,

2016; Franz et al., 2010; Jansen et al., 2015; Kular et al., 2019). These perspectives negatively influence people with psychosis to withdraw from their social networks. Several studies suggest that individuals with high stigmatizing attitudes towards psychosis often have a longer DUP (Ahmed et al., 2020; Compton et al., 2008; Dutta et al., 2019; Franz et al., 2010, 2010; Gronholm et al., 2017; Jansen et al., 2015; Kular et al., 2019; Mishra et al., 2021). This may be because symptoms of psychosis are ignored or normalized due to the fear of embarrassment or being labelled, until symptoms become pronounced and disrupt the individual's daily functioning (Jansen et al., 2015). Mueser et al. (2020) and Compton et al.'s (2008) findings indicate that high levels of stigmatizing attitudes among individuals with psychosis were typically associated with more severe symptoms of psychosis, decreased recovery, and an overall lower subjective well-being. It was also found that people had a negative self-image, lower levels of self-confidence, increased sense of being different from others, and increased feelings of shame, anger, worry, and depression (Gronholm et al., 2017; He et al., 2020; Kular et al., 2019).

Families often experience social stigma as well if their family member begins displaying symptoms of psychosis. Many families believe that the presence of a mental disorder within their home will bring their family shame in the community. Due to this, many families were reluctant to openly discuss their family member's symptoms (Compton et al., 2008; Goulding et al., 2008; López et al., 2009; Selick et al., 2017). Many individuals hid their symptoms from their families as well because they were afraid of being labelled (Franz et al., 2010; Hasan & Musleh, 2017). Several researchers have also found that seeking mental health services for children with symptoms of psychosis was significantly looked down upon within one's community, potentially jeopardizing the family's integrity and status (Dixon De Silva et al., 2020; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Hastrup et al., 2018; Herrera et al., 2023; Nishii et al., 2010). To prevent feeling judged or discriminated against, individuals and their families avoided treatment (Dixon De Silva et al., 2020; He et al., 2020; Kular et al., 2019; Memon et al., 2016; Torres Stone et al., 2020b). In summary, lower levels of psychosis literacy were often associated with higher levels of negative and stigmatizing attitudes.

#### 2.3.4 Lack of Supportive Social Networks

Social networks can act as a barrier to help-seeking if they are unsupportive, as they do not empower the individual to seek the appropriate services for their symptoms of psychosis (Goulding et al., 2008; Selick et al., 2017). There are several reasons why an individual's social network may be unsupportive or reluctant to accept there is a concern, such as culture-specific beliefs and negative attitudes toward mental disorders (Hasan & Musleh, 2017). For instance, families and friends may be unsupportive due to the fear of being labelled or stigmatizing societal beliefs regarding psychosis (Burke et al., 2016; Hasan & Musleh, 2017). In addition, some families do not believe that treatment for psychosis and other mental disorders is effective, thus they do not support their family member seeking it, further resulting in a delay (Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Kumar et al., 2019). Hasan and Musleh (2017) found that many people felt that they had to convince their family that they required treatment before they could seek help, and if this was not possible, many people hid their symptoms. Studies also found that individuals were worried that their family members and friends would treat them differently if they sought out mental health services for their symptoms (Ahmed et al., 2020; Burke et al., 2016; Goulding et al., 2008; He et al., 2020).

Several studies found that parents and significant others with lower levels of psychosis literacy were demeaning or uncaring toward the individual with symptoms of psychosis (Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Jansen et al., 2015). This supports the notion that a poor understanding of psychosis results in unsupportive social networks because they are not aware of psychotic disorders and are unsure how to respond to the symptoms. People who are unaware of how psychosis symptoms can manifest often considered symptoms as passing phases (Jansen et al., 2015). As a result, some participants agreed that their social network's unsupportive attitudes and behaviours are not due to bad or malicious intent, rather it was likely a lack of knowledge regarding psychosis and the efficacy of treatment (Jansen et al., 2015).

#### 2.3.5 Other Barriers

An additional barrier to help-seeking for psychosis is being unable to effectively

communicate with professionals and explain symptoms. This can be due to language barriers or lack of knowledge regarding how to articulate their problems (Arora & Khoo, 2020; Torres Stone et al., 2020b). Many studies also indicated that logistical barriers, such as geographical challenges or lack of transportation, negatively impacted help-seeking behaviours (Dixon De Silva et al., 2020; Isaacs et al., 2010). Another common barrier is financial burdens. Many families from low socioeconomic conditions could not afford treatment or were unable to take time off from work to attend their appointments. Some people expressed that childcare options were also limited for them or that they could not afford treatments that were not covered under health insurance plans (Arora & Khoo, 2020; Lu et al., 2021; Thomson et al., 2015). Collectively, these factors acted as additional barriers to help-seeking.

## 2.4 Enablers of Seeking Treatment for Psychosis

## 2.4.1 Higher Psychosis Literacy

Several studies have shown the positive impact of educational training and campaigns in aiding early symptom recognition and decreasing negative, stigmatizing attitudes and beliefs regarding psychotic disorders and their treatment. It was found that individuals with higher levels of psychosis literacy were more likely to consider psychosis a medical problem that requires early interventions and medical support, thus it was also associated with a shorter DUP (Fusar-Poli et al., 2017; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; López et al., 2018; Myaba et al., 2021). The effectiveness of mental health promotion campaigns to increase the general public's knowledge and awareness of psychosis and shorten DUP has been studied globally. Several studies report that targeted informational campaigns and early detection can reduce DUP for people with FEP and aid in the navigation of psychosis treatment (Hastrup et al., 2018; Lloyd-Evans et al., 2011; McGorry et al., 2007). Abdel-Fadeel et al. (2013) explored the effectiveness of a large population-wide community-based programme named Treatment and Intervention in Psychosis (TIPS) and found that the implementation of this program also shortened DUP. Lopez et al. (2008) conducted a study with the "La CLAve" psychoeducational program with Spanishspeaking participants and found that all participants reported an increase in knowledge in all four domains (knowledge of psychosis, identification of psychosis symptoms, attributions to mental

illness, and professional help-seeking). In addition, after the intervention, participants reported that they were less likely to seek non-medical sources of support, such as traditional healers, and more likely to seek professional services for psychotic disorders, (López et al., 2018). These findings were further supported by Calderon et al. (2022) who conducted a follow-up study using the "La CLAve" psychoeducational program and found that an increase in psychosis literacy was associated with a reduction in DUP. In Ireland, Sutton et al. (2018) investigated the feasibility of a psychosis educational campaign to increase psychosis literacy among, professional groups and also found that the intervention significantly enhanced psychosis literacy. Hui et al. (2019) also aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of a school-based intervention program, The School Tour, to increase psychosis literacy amongst students and reported that it significantly improved their knowledge of psychosis and attitudes towards seeking support. A study by Chong et al. (2016) broadly investigated the ability of participants to recognize mental disorders from vignettes and found that depression, dementia, and alcohol abuse were more accurately recognized in comparison to schizophrenia and OCD. The researchers suggested that this may be due to extensive public intervention initiatives that exist to educate the population regarding symptoms of depression, alcohol problems, and dementia (Chong et al., 2016). This indicates that the normalization of mental disorders through educational interventions can have positive impacts on the recognition of symptoms. Thus, to increase the public's psychosis literacy, more efforts should be made to create targeted educational campaigns. This recommendation was supported by Caplan et al.'s (2019) findings that education interventions and exposure to mental disorders decreased stigmatizing attitudes and increased help-seeking behaviours.

#### 2.4.2 High Perceived Need

One important factor that promoted help-seeking behaviours for psychosis was the perceived need for support, which often was associated with mild and severe symptoms resulting in an emergency or crisis. Many studies have found that when symptoms became severe and unmanageable, individuals were more likely to seek treatment and support, especially if they were experiencing positive symptoms in the acute phase of psychosis (Anderson et al., 2018a; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Kular et al., 2019; Mishra et al., 2021; Nishii et al., 2010). Specifically

for the case of psychosis, the type of onset of symptoms typically determined help-seeking behaviour. An acute mode of onset was identified as an enabler for help-seeking behaviours because the symptoms became burdensome and disrupted daily functioning, such as causing a loss in work-productivity (Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Mishra et al., 2021; Nishii et al., 2010). Other research also suggests that individuals will seek treatment if their symptoms present as somatic problems or externalizing disruptions rather than psychological problems (Franz et al., 2010; Gronholm et al., 2017). A study done by Schoer et al. (2021) indicates that individuals with psychosis were more likely to access primary care services over the six year period before their first diagnosis of psychosis, relative to an age- and sex-matched comparison group. This suggests that people recognize a need for support (Anderson et al., 2018a; Schoer et al., 2021).

#### 2.4.3 Presence of Social Support

The presence of support from an individual's social networks has been outlined as a critical component in psychosis interventions (Selick et al., 2017). Family members, significant others, relatives, and close friends are crucial players that can facilitate help-seeking behaviours and help encourage the individual to receive the appropriate specialized medical care they need (Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Hastrup et al., 2018; Jansen et al., 2015; Selick et al., 2017; Souaiby et al., 2019). In many instances, family members and caregivers were the primary source of support for an individual with psychosis (Jansen et al., 2015). As a result, if a social network is supportive and empathetic, it can act as an enabler for seeking and staying in treatment, thus shortening the DUP (Hasan & Musleh, 2017). The individual feels empowered to seek the appropriate treatment when families and friends create a comfortable and safe environment in which they can discuss their distressing experiences and symptoms of psychosis (Hasan & Musleh, 2017). Social networks were considered to be supportive and empowering in helpseeking for treatment when they acknowledged that psychosis is a medical problem rather that a sign of weakness. In a study by Goulding et al. (2008), they found that when family members and friends accepted the individual with psychosis and reported lower stigma, this often resulted in a shorter DUP. Similarly, Hasan and Musleh (2017) found that strong family relations and bonds were associated with a shorter DUP. Morgan et al. (2006) found that the DUP decreased

from an average of 12 weeks to an average of 5 weeks when there was family involvement in seeking treatment.

#### 2.5 Study Rationale and Objectives

Presently, there are several studies that explore the information gaps in the knowledge of service providers and professionals to understand how these gaps can be bridged (Berger et al., 2006; Lester et al., 2005; Moudatsou et al., 2021; Reed, 2008; Schoer et al., 2021; Sin et al., 2014). It is important to note that patients and family members are also responsible for recognizing symptoms of psychosis and realizing when they should seek treatment. This requires understanding their specific information needs. Valimaki et al. (2008) interviewed 50 participants in Finland to investigate the problems related to psychosis literacy and reported five areas of information where education is needed: illness, treatment, well-being, daily activities, and patient rights. One study conducted by Pallaveshi et al. (2014) aimed to understand the perceived barriers of immigrants in Canada with psychosis by asking healthcare providers. This study, however, did not consider the barriers experienced by family members/caregivers nor what information is needed to increase caregiver psychosis literacy. Moudatsou et al. (2011) conducted a qualitative study to investigate the needs of families and caregivers of patients with psychosis from the perspective of mental health professionals and found that caregivers could benefit from increased information regarding disease management, knowledge of coping strategies, and services for themselves. This study, however, did not explore the information needs of patients. Hasan and Musleh (2017) interviewed 27 family members of people with psychosis in Saudi Arabia and found that perceived stigma and the fear of being labelled were the primary barriers associated with seeking appropriate treatment and also noted that participants misattributed the cause and symptoms of mental illness. This study also did not explore the information needs of patients.

Presently, to the author's knowledge, there are no studies within Ontario, Canada that explore what patients and their family members and caregivers already know about psychosis and what they should know. The current project is unique because it incorporates the perspectives of clients, family members/caregivers, and service providers. The overall objective

of this thesis is to conduct a secondary analysis (conventional content analysis) of interviews to understand the information needs of clients and caregivers in Ontario from the perspective of patients, caregivers, and service providers. This project builds on Anderson et al.'s (2018) study.

#### Chapter 3

#### 3 Methods

#### 3.1 Situating the Current Study

This study is a secondary analysis of interview data from a larger mixed-methods project focused on the role of family physicians in early psychosis intervention (Anderson et al., 2018). As part of this study, clients, caregivers, and service providers were interviewed regarding help-seeking and service use for a first episode of psychosis. Throughout these interviews, many participants provided insight into the gaps in knowledge for clients and caregivers regarding early psychosis and what people should know, such as symptom awareness and knowledge of services available, which was the focus of the secondary analysis conducted for the current study.

Before conducting the secondary analysis, the project coordinator reviewed the interview data from the parent study and determined that it provided sufficient depth of information to explore the information needs of clients and caregivers. Also, two of the authors from the parent study were on the supervisory committee for this secondary analysis, which ensured that the transcript data were not taken out of context.

Ethics approval was obtained for the primary study from the Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board (#114507), as well as from research ethics boards that are affiliated with the participant recruitment sites, where required (Hamilton, Toronto, Ottawa, Thorold, Thunder Bay).

## 3.2 Study Design

A conventional content analysis, informed by the work of Hsieh and Shannon (2005) and based in the natural interpretive paradigm, was used to analyze the transcripts. The natural interpretive paradigm allows for theory generation and gaining insight of a phenomenon. It assumes that there are multiple realities, and that meaning is socially constructed and

subjectively interpreted (Moschkovich, 2019). Conventional content analysis is an inductive approach used to describe a phenomenon for which there is limited theory or literature. This typology of content analysis was chosen for the current study because it involved a secondary analysis of transcripts from semi-structured interviews, and the research question did not align with an existing theory. This method allows for the categories to be derived directly from the transcripts and the findings are based on the data being analyzed. In conventional content analysis, the researcher reviews the transcripts several times to become familiar with the data and then reads it word by word to derive codes. The emerging codes can then be sorted into categories and sub-categories. This process continues until the categories and sub-categories have stabilized and the categories are clearly defined (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005).

#### 3.3 Sample Recruitment

Clients and caregivers were recruited from seven EPI programs in the province of Ontario (London, Hamilton, Toronto, Ottawa, Thorold, Kirkland Lake, and Thunder Bay), which were selected to achieve representation from rural and remote areas, as well as a mix of academic and community-based programs (Anderson et al., 2018). All of the sites were EPI clinics, with the exception of Thunder Bay, which was a child and adolescent psychiatry clinic in Thunder Bay Hospital that provided care to clients with a first episode of psychosis. A purposive sampling technique was used to recruit clients and caregivers (Anderson et al., 2018). For Thorold, Kirkland Lake, and Thunder Bay sites, nurses and case managers at each of the sites introduced the study to clients and caregivers during their appointments. Clients and caregivers who were interested in participating received a referral form to complete and send to the research coordinator. For the London site, the research coordinator was on-site for one day. The clinicians of the program identified interested clients and caregivers during their appointments and referred them to meet with the research assistant in person after the appointment. For the Ottawa site, the local psychiatrist PI sent the research coordinator referrals on behalf of the clients and caregivers who were interested in participating. For the Hamilton site, their dedicated research coordinator contacted clients and caregivers from a registry of people who consented to be contacted about research studies. The interested clients and caregivers filled out a referral form and sent it to the project research coordinator. The research coordinator followed up with the interested clients and caregivers to confirm their participation and schedule an interview. For the Toronto site, the clinicians handled the recruitment and interview process based on their internal protocols.

Family physicians were recruited for the interviews using a combined approach of inperson and mail-based methods. In-person recruitment was done using a booth at the Ontario College of Family Physicians Annual Scientific Assembly Meeting in November 2019. Mail-based recruitment was targeted to 1000 physicians who were randomly sampled from a list from the Canadian Medical Directory and received a postal package that included a recruitment letter, and a \$5 Tim Horton's gift card as an unconditional token incentive. Family physicians who were interested in participating in an interview completed a form and returned it to the research team. The research team followed up with the interested family physicians and scheduled an interview.

Clinicians from early psychosis intervention (EPI) programs were recruited by email from participating sites. A contact person from each site distributed the emails internally among staff and shared a recruitment poster.

#### 3.4 Data Collection

For the qualitative interviews, the primary study recruited first-episode psychosis clients, caregivers, family physicians, and Early Psychosis Intervention (EPI) clinicians. To be eligible for participation, clients must have been between 16 and 35 years of age, have experienced a first episode of psychosis, been within three years of enrolment in EPI services, and had stable symptoms as assessed by the case manager. Caregivers were included if they were part of a patient's social network and were involved in the patient's mental health help-seeking prior to and during their psychotic episode (Anderson et al., 2018). A total of 24 clients and 14 caregivers were interviewed across the seven sites. The interviews were semi-structured and ranged from 30-60 minutes. The interviews were audio-recorded, with permission of the participant. All clients and caregivers received an honorarium for their participation.

A total of 20 family physicians were interviewed. The interviews were semi-structured and approximately 30 minutes in length. All the family physicians received an honorarium for

their participation (Anderson et al., 2018). One focus group interview was conducted with EPI clinicians at each participating site. EPI staff who were interested in participating contacted the project coordinator. One focus group was conducted by telephone, one was held in-person, and the rest were conducted by video conferencing. A total of six focus groups were conducted with EPI staff. A focus group guide was used to facilitate the focus group interviews. All interviews and focus groups were audio-recorded, transcribed, de-identified, and verified for accuracy.

### 3.5 Data Analysis

The de-identified transcript data from the clients, caregivers, and service providers were imported into the qualitative analytical software NVivo 12. The data were reviewed several times to become familiarized and immersed. Several notes of first impressions and thoughts were made. After the first few reviews of the data, the transcripts were read again line by line to derive codes, and exact phrases were highlighted to capture key concepts. Anything related to information or knowledge for clients and caregivers was coded, including what they currently know about services and symptoms, and what they did not know when they were searching for support, or what people think others should know. After the initial coding, eight categories were derived with several subcategories that were given preliminary definitions. These categories were discussed with the supervisory committee and revised to ensure they aligned with the scope of the research question. This resulted in the eight categories being collapsed to four categories, with further consolidation into three categories that were saturated and stabilized with codes. Each category was then clearly defined.

### 3.6 Rigor and Self-Reflexivity

Tracy (2010) describes credibility as a key criterion for qualitative research, and defines it as the trustworthiness of the research findings. This study achieves credibility through triangulation, multivocality, and sincerity (Tracy, 2010). For a conventional content analysis, Hsieh and Shannon (2005) noted that the failure to develop an accurate understanding of the data and its content is a key challenge. To maintain credibility, the first author discussed the findings with the supervisory committee. Because the members of the supervisory committee were investigators from the parent study, this ensured that the data were not taken out of context and

that the findings were an accurate representation of the data. The triangulation of codes and categories with the supervisory committee also ensured that the findings remained within the scope of the project and key categories were appropriately identified (Tracy, 2010). Another measure of credibility as described by Tracy (2010) is *multivocality*, which ensures multiple and varied voices are represented throughout the analyses. The current study achieves multivocality through the inclusion of quotes from various clients, caregivers, family doctors, and EPI clinicians. This enhances the results and increases the credibility of the findings.

Tracy (2010) also describes *sincerity* as an additional criterion for qualitative research. Sincerity is characterized through transparency and honesty of the researcher's methods and biases. The biases of the first author were recognized and noted through a reflexive journal. The following is a summary of my biases:

Over the last few years, I have realized the neglect in attention towards child and adolescent mental health, especially in immigrant and conservative households. I experienced this first-hand growing up in a semi-conservative Indian household in which feelings and symptoms of anxiety and depression are all said to be in your head and the solution is to just "get over it." In addition, I have also directly experienced the confusion and stress related to navigating services for a family member who is experiencing symptoms of a mental disorder. As a result, I have slowly gained a passion for mental health literacy and educating the population so they can better recognize the symptoms of mental disorders before they become distressing. This also involves recognizing the culture-specific beliefs of mental disorders to better understand how to develop targeted health promotion for ethnic minority populations. When given the opportunity to explore psychosis literacy in more detail, I was excited to learn about a specific component of mental health literacy.

Up to this point, I have explored several paradigms theoretically but would have to admit that I see myself sitting between the post-positivist and interpretivist paradigm. I have been passionate about adolescent mental health awareness and immigrant mental health literacy for a few years now. Most of my previous work focused on treatment-resistant depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and mental health literacy of immigrants

globally. Although I've briefly studied psychosis in passing throughout the past few years, it was a relatively new topic for me to explore in detail. I have worked on a project related to methamphetamine use and have come across substance-induced psychosis, however I have not directly studied psychosis until this study. After familiarizing myself with prominent studies in the field related to my topic, I was able to develop a better understanding of psychosis and this allowed for me to dig deeper within the field of psychosis literacy with the guidance of my supervisory committee.

I have spent the last year working on a project in methamphetamine research as a Knowledge Mobilization Specialist within London-Middlesex. Through this, I've had the opportunity to interview people who use substances and explore the impacts of substance-induced psychosis. I believe my professional experience has prepared me to become more sensitive toward symptoms of psychosis and the experiences that people may have as a result of substance-induced psychosis.

By acknowledging and recognizing personal biases and how they can impact the study, the first author strives for sincerity in this study (Tracy, 2010).

## Chapter 4

## 4 Results

Of the respondents interviewed, the majority of the sample were clients and caregivers (n=38). For this study, family physicians and early psychosis intervention (EPI) clinicians are categorized as service providers (n=26). The quotations from clients, caregivers, and service providers will be included below in the specific sections. See Table 1 for interviewee demographics.

Table 1

Interviewee Demographics

	Gender	Age	Ethnic background	Education	Area of living (rural vs. urban)
Clients (n=24)	Female = 58% Male =42%	The age range is 16-33, median age is 25	White = 45.8% African/ Jamaican = 8.3% Other = 29.7% Mixed = 8.3%	Highschool completion = 45.83% Post- secondary school completion = 50%	Urban = 91.7% Rural = 8.3%
Caregivers (n=14)	Female = 78.5% Male = 21.5%	The age range is 46-64, mean age is 58	White = 85.7% Indian = 14.3%	Post-secondary school completion = 100% Master's program completion = 14.3%	Urban = 85.7% Rural – 14.3%

	Gender	Area of practice (rural vs. urban)	Country of medical school graduation
Family Doctors (n=20)	Female = 60% Male = 40%	Urban = 15% Rural = 15%	Graduated from a Canadian Medical School = 70% Graduated from a non-Canadian Medical School = 30%

Three main content categories were derived from the conventional content analysis: (a) current knowledge of where to seek health services and information; (b) symptom awareness and recognition of FEP; and (c) information people wish they knew about psychosis or think the general public should know.

## 4.1 Current Knowledge of Where to Seek Health Services and Information

Clients and caregivers exhibited a range of help-seeking behaviours based on their perceived need for support for psychosis-related symptoms. Most clients and caregivers expressed that they ended up waiting until symptoms were overt and disturbing to initiate help-seeking. This was particularly true when clients exhibited positive symptoms of psychosis, such as hallucinations and delusions. At this point, clients and caregivers often resorted to seeking support from emergency services, such as police and hospital support. For instance, Client 1 stressed how positive psychosis symptoms lead them to seek support from parents and eventually the hospital system:

I started having psychotic delusions for about a few weeks, and for - started slowly, and I lost my job, and then I was out of work for about a month and a half. And I was having psychotic delusions. Nature, I guess we might get into later. But to focus on the question, I am seeking help from my parents. I told them, I was so much somewhat suicidal. And so they decided to bring me to the hospital. [Client, 1]

During the early symptoms of psychosis, some clients and caregivers recognized that something was wrong but were unsure why. This typically occurred when clients experienced some of the more non-specific and insidious symptoms of psychosis, such as sleep disturbance and mood swings. During this time, clients and caregivers typically sought support from their family doctor if the symptoms began to disrupt their daily functioning.

I think for me it was like in the beginning there were some signs, but my parents didn't fully understand what was going on. So for a long time I was kind of like going to like family doctors. [Client 2]

Well, first I had this job at [Restaurant] and like I was experiencing symptoms. And like took a doctor's note and like I got help from my family doctor and then she recommended me to go to [EPI Program]. [Client 3]

I didn't know I was – Like I knew I was hearing voices, but I thought they were like something else. I didn't know it was psychosis or anything like that. So I didn't seek any help. [Client 4]

Caregivers expressed their uncertainty in finding services for themselves while supporting their family member with psychosis and managing the changes. This lack of knowledge and awareness of services made it difficult to ensure the appropriate services were accessed in a timely manner According to Caregiver 1, they outlined how they became overwhelmed and found it difficult to locate services:

And with the pandemic it made everything much worse. So we didn't really know what to do. We weren't even part of the early intervention program at the time, when he was hospitalized when it first happened. So there was nobody to really reach out to. So it was very scary, very overwhelming and I can't even — I wouldn't wish this on nobody.

Clients and caregivers received information regarding psychosis from several sources, most commonly it was from the hospital or their family doctor. Family doctors were described as an important resource for information.

[Caregiver, 1]

When he was in hospital in [City] they gave him a lot of information about schizophrenia.

And I've still got that and he's gone all through it and marked things up and how his mom did this and his dad did this to him. [Caregiver 2]

No, I think she [family doctor] does a very good job about supporting me, yeah. If I ever need anything she's like oh, like here's, you know, many different cards. You can go call this person, call that person, you know, and she's very helpful that way. [Client 5]

Family doctors and EPI clinicians also mentioned that they would provide their clients with additional psychosis-related information during sessions to ensure they better understood their diagnosis.

I will explain to them, you know, what's the diagnosis of psychosis and some of them it's just they accept it or they are happy that there is a diagnosis. Others might, you know, not accept it but I explain to them and I go through the DSM-V diagnosis with them and we'll talk about the prognosis and the treatment and so on. [Family Doctor 1]

Some caregivers mentioned that they turned to the internet to seek psychosis-related information.

but at the time we're just – we don't know anything about psychosis. We're starting to read about it [online] and try to learn about it ..and I remember printing off that, what do they call that, the DSM or the DS – yeah and looking at oh, yeah, oh yeah, I can see why that happened. He was – like he was just textbook, like every delusion he had it, yeah.

[Caregiver 2]

## 4.2 Knowledge of Symptoms and Recognition of FEP

Clients and caregivers expressed that symptoms that were overt and disturbing were often recognized as requiring medical treatment, with an increased perceived need for support. In most

instances, clients and caregivers were not aware that the client was experiencing symptoms related to a psychotic disorder; however, they still acknowledged that there was a problem that required support. For example, Caregiver 3 and Client 6 outlined how they noticed some of the behaviour exhibited was abnormal.

And then this went on to, he went to college and when he went to college for three years, he's very, he succeeds very well academically so he was top of his class. But socially very, very reclusive and also exhibiting some very aggressive behaviour at home towards his brother mostly and then towards us as well. And so I repeated, too many times, told my family doctor, "We need help, like we don't know what to do" [Caregiver 3]

Because I guess like there's like a difference between having like a balanced view towards religion and then becoming just like so completely consumed with fear to the point where it's just like, it's negatively affecting your ability to function. And I feel like that's where I got to a point where I was like having like, just irrational fears of death of like, the afterlife of like, of everything that was unknown to me. I don't know if that makes any sense. [Client 6]

It was noted that when clients experienced early symptoms of psychosis that were mostly internalized, clients and caregivers often did not recognize them as requiring medical treatment or associated with a mental illness. Client 6 and Caregiver 4 expressed overlooking their symptoms until they gradually became worse.

So my psychosis was a gradual kind of occurrence. It wasn't kind of like an overnight thing. I was going through a lot of like personal issues at the time, and I was very like unsatisfied with my life and like I was becoming more and more depressed. And basically, my depression just got worse and worse and worse and worse. I had long periods of time where I was like severely sleep deprived and I think it was the intense sleep deprivation that caused like the major chunk of the psychosis that I had was like sleep deprivation... Like I could no longer experience like pleasure from like things that I used to experience pleasure from, whether it was music or watching a TV show or reading a book like stories and like the beauty of humanity just like diminish.

#### [Client 6]

But he was in psychosis for a while before we realized he was having his – he was in psychosis where I wasn't aware. There was [sic] weird things happening, but I wasn't aware that it was psychosis until he had his complete break. [Caregiver 4]

Parents also often attributed their child's early symptoms of psychosis to normal life changes.

And then in Grade 10 we weren't aware, but there was some very severe bullying going on in the school bus. In fact it took months for parents to find out and when it was found out it really impacted the children on the bus.... So after that G. [client] started misbehaving, he quit all of his sports teams, he withdrew from the class involvement as president and all that. And I just thought that at that point that maybe he was just going through teenage years and possibly maybe a little bit of a depression. [Caregiver 3]

Well as you know, a lot of the behaviours that can be leading up to this, are very hard to distinguish from pretty typical adolescent behaviours, you know or immature young adult behaviours – risk taking, impulsivity, what's, what's the word – you know constantly pushing back, arguing, not accepting help. I mean that's just on a spectrum of behaviours, it's not abnormal. [Caregiver 5]

When he was a teenager he almost – he had just vanished. Like he had learned – like yeah, all – and he was, he never acted out, he was very quiet, introverted, just he played golf with his dad. He took - he's got a second degree black belt in karate. He never really had many friends. [Caregiver 2]

The most commonly cited reason for not acknowledging the early symptoms of psychosis as requiring medical treatment and delaying seeking treatment is due to negative and stigmatizing perceptions of mental health problems. Clients felt embarrassed and were afraid to be labelled with a mental illness.

Like when I was younger and I first had my psychotic relapse, I was like embarrassed and I didn't trust doctors. I didn't know if they were going to put me in like a strait jacket

or something which I don't know... I was very scared to go to get help because I didn't want them to like lock me up in a psych ward. It's not an unpleasant experience, but it's not necessarily a pleasant experience. Or people have jobs and families, they don't want to leave and stuff like that. [Client 7]

So I didn't want to share what was really bothering me with my counsellor because I felt that I had to like upkeep like the image of my religious community. Like I didn't want to make my religious community look bad or to make myself look bad. ... especially in the Muslim community, if anyone's dealing with this, there's a big stigma in general, but I feel like sometimes there can be a greater stigma even in the Muslim like Arab community around mental health and there's a lot of superstitious beliefs and things like that.

And people don't want to be labelled as psychos, or something – something similar to that. [Client 6]

It's the taboo factor. Like I think we did a great job with depression and anxiety in terms of removing that taboo factor, where people will come forward and talk about their mental health and get treatment for it. The next step is the psychosis factor of it. A lot of people are afraid of coming forward when they're hearing voices, seeing things, having grandiosity, tangentiality or tangential speech. [Family Doctor 2]

# 4.3 Information People Wish They Knew/People Should Know About Psychosis

It was noted by clients and service providers that clients and caregivers wished they knew more about psychosis when the client first started exhibiting symptoms. Most commonly, it was expressed that there should be more awareness of the symptoms of psychosis and how psychosis can manifest.

I think just the diagnoses or the diagnosis, there needs to be more information shared with families and patients in regard to what their diagnosis is... There needs to be knowledge and shared with a patient specifically, what is this illness? What does this

mean? What does it mean to you? How is it impacting your life? And what changes do you need to make as well? So I think there needs to be more information shared on actual diagnosis and the actual symptoms. And then this will segue into a conversation of early symptoms or triggers that can cause another relapse. So education and awareness.

[Client 8]

I mean, everybody definitely pays attention to the positive symptoms but, you know, ... the increase in isolation, the decrease in being social, all these little things that, you know, we see on top of like the positive symptoms of hearing voices and that kind of stuff which is kind of like oh yeah for sure this is psychosis, it's the other path of the symptoms that is probably is what's getting missed. And it could just be that, you know, they don't have the, like enough education, I think, to spot them out. [EPI 1]

It was also expressed that there should be more information and awareness regarding the causes of psychosis, especially the influence of trauma and substance-use. For instance, Family Doctor 3 and Caregiver 5 outlined the importance of considering the impact of previous trauma and substance use and it may contribute to psychotic episodes.

So I have patients who – I have a lot of sexual abuse in my practice. I have a lot of incest in my practice. I have a lot of people that were beaten in residential schools, in foster care, sexually abused in all of those places. So trying to see what are elements that are related to the, you know, previous trauma. I find that's another difficult thing to assess. [Family Doctor 3]

I also think there's some ignorance about the severity of marijuana. Like, I mean my kid is now in – very sadly – his second state of psychosis. And he has, he is terribly addicted to marijuana now. [Caregiver 5]

Family doctors and EPI clinicians particularly emphasized that substance-induced psychosis has become very common, and they are often unsure whether the psychosis symptoms are due to a psychiatric disorder or a side effect of substances. As a result, they expressed that clients and caregivers should be educated on substance-induced psychosis.

Yeah so, for pre-psychosis, I think the critical things are psycho-education; [do not touch] marijuana. Stay away from marijuana. Now it's legal, which is even worse. Stay away from marijuana. [Family Doctor 4]

So I have had a lot of people that present as you know, is it schizoaffective, is it bipolar, is it drug induced psychosis, because I have a lot of drug use in the practice as well. And often the differential is difficult at that point, like, it could be, you know, induced by methamphetamine, it could have been induced by marijuana, whatever... I think it's the fact that there's a lot of my patients using drugs and it's – trying to distinguish between drug-induced psychosis or a primary mental illness. [Family Doctor 3]

Caregivers, family doctors, and EPI clinicians also expressed that family members and caregivers should know more about psychosis so they can better support and advocate for their family member with psychosis.

it would be easier if they have family members that are supportive. So I try to also when I see them get their family members coming in as well. Cause I'm seeing them maybe once every few weeks or even few months depending on how acute a situation is... So they might have that initial push from me but then they might need constant support through their family. So having the family onboard I think that's very helpful... But I find that in situations where the patient maybe isolated or don't have any family members that would be willing to help or supportive, that makes it very challenging. A lot of times I find that patient might have been hard to follow up until they're in crisis. [Family Doctor 5]

The reason why I'm getting involved is because I think families are really important. As I said, they see the individual and what's, normal for them. And then what goes beyond that and how they change. And see a significant change can be very scary. Once families get education on it, they can handle it much better. So education is a big piece, too. If I hadn't gotten the education that I had, I'm not sure how our family life would be now. I'm definitely a lot calmer. [Caregiver 6]

It was noted that there was a lack of knowledge and awareness of services for psychosis among clients and caregivers. Clients and caregivers expressed wanting more information about services for clients and a better understanding of the process of receiving support.

Yeah. I mean, the doctor maybe can refer you to a psychiatrist or an intervention program. I wasn't referred to any intervention programs. ... But it would be nice for future to help mental health patients to go to the family doctor and then have the doctor recommending like classes there, where there's all mental patients. [Client 9]

Sometimes I think they may not understand fully all of the options that they have available for them for support for mental health services locally. [EPI 2]

When I finally got in to [community mental health program] with the crisis intervention program she felt that something could have been offered to us before, at least support for us, to know how to protect ourselves and how to do stuff. But that wasn't offered to us and frankly I didn't know that I could have had access to that. I thought that I was waiting for a crisis, for a serious, I was waiting for the really bad thing. [Caregiver 3]

The importance of support for caregivers was also mentioned. Caregivers expressed wanting more awareness of available supports and services for them as they support their loved one and service providers echoed this. It was important to feel supported and know how to navigate psychosis in the family.

It's just, you know, you need more than that kind of – you need some support, and so does the family. The family needs support for that. It's a devastating diagnosis if it does turn out to be schizophrenia, then it's really a devastating diagnosis. [Family Doctor 6]

But the helplessness, the fear, the terror that a parent feels when they have a child in this state and they realize the hospital isn't going to take them, like, you know and fix them. They're going to say, "He's yours. Come back in a week." And you have no tools. You have no tools. None. That is — that to me, is a critical, critical, critical point. And that is a critical point for outreach and help to the family member who is trying to embrace this person who is suffering and get them back into the system. That's why youth get lost. [Caregiver 5]

## Chapter 5

#### 5 Discussion

## 5.1 Summary of Findings

The findings of the current study highlight that FEP clients and caregivers have the following information needs: where to seek services and supports for clients experiencing symptoms of psychosis; where to seek supports for family members and caregivers to learn how to support and cope with having a family member with psychosis; how to differentiate early symptoms of psychosis from normal changes; and psychosis-related information such as what it is, the causes of psychosis and how symptoms of psychosis can manifest in different people.

## 5.1.1 Knowledge of Services and Supports

The findings from the current study suggest that clients and caregivers had some knowledge of services and supports available when people are experiencing early signs and symptoms of psychosis. The most commonly used services were emergency services, such as hospitals or police, and family doctors. It was found that clients and caregivers often sought support from emergency services when the client was experiencing the positive symptoms of psychosis or when the symptoms had become severely disruptive to their daily functioning. The current study's insights align with Hasan and Musleh's (2017) study, in which they found that when clients exhibited noticeable symptoms of psychosis, these individuals were likely to seek help, commonly from emergency services that also provide mental health support. The current study highlights that clients and caregivers were more likely to visit their family doctor for nonspecific and insidious symptoms of psychosis causing mild impacts on the client's life, such as sleep disturbance, mood swings, or social withdrawal. Schoer et al.'s (2021) findings also suggest that people who experience symptoms of psychosis visit family doctors at a higher frequency during the 6 years before their first diagnosis, compared to the general population, with visit frequency increasing 10 months prior to diagnosis. However, Schoer et al.'s (2021) study was unable to identify whether visits were for prodromal symptoms or active symptoms of psychosis. Martin et al. (2018), Del Vecchio et al. (2015), and Bhui, Ullrich, and Coid (2010)

reported similar findings, indicating that primary care was a common point of first contact for clients. This highlights that although clients and caregivers are unaware that the client's symptoms may be associated with psychosis or a mental health problem, there is still a perceived need for support and some recognition that there may be something wrong.

Even though clients and caregivers were aware of where to seek support for symptoms of psychosis, the current findings suggest that caregivers lack knowledge of supports and services available for them as they care for their family member with psychosis. This finding from the current study is similar to the results of several previous studies that indicate that family members and caregivers struggled to find services for themselves to cope with the changes related to their family member's illness (Kumar et al., 2019; Moudastou et al., 2021). The findings of the current study commonly indicated that caregivers experienced feelings of fear, frustration, confusion, and experienced family dysfunction as a result of a family member having psychosis. Moudatsou et al. (2021) previously interviewed 12 mental health professionals to understand the needs of caregivers of family members with psychosis and further noted that caregivers experienced increased responsibilities, which can add to professional and financial burdens, social constraints, and their personal psychological deterioration. Providing caregivers with support such as psychoeducation can improve the care they provide to their family member with psychosis (Cheng et al., 2020; Martin et al., 2018).

The current study's findings also suggest that clients and caregivers lacked knowledge of psychosis prior to the client experiencing symptoms of psychosis. It was found that the most common sources of psychosis-related information after the onset of symptoms included the hospital and family doctor. The results of the current study highlight that family doctors were aware that they are typically a family's first source of psychosis-related information, and described the efforts they made to ensure they provide the family with sufficient information. This outlines the importance of the family doctor's role in psychosis treatment and education, which has been studied in several studies and is the focus of the parent study (Anderson et al., 2018a; Reed, 2008). Some caregivers also mentioned seeking additional information from the internet to learn more about psychosis. This insight aligns with results from other studies that found that clients and caregivers often use the internet as either their first source of psychosis-related information or for supplementary information (Aref-Adib et al., 2016; Birnbaum et al.,

2016; Cheng et al., 2020; Jansen et al., 2015; Onwumere & Kuipers, 2018). Further work will be required to explore how perceived stigma of psychiatric disorders effects information seeking of caregivers and others in the larger circle of care.

## 5.1.2 Associating Symptoms with a Psychotic Disorder

The findings from the current study suggest that although clients and caregivers were able to recognize the overt and positive symptoms of psychosis as requiring medical treatment, they were often unaware the symptoms were a sign of psychosis. This aligns with previous literature that indicates that the positive symptoms of psychosis are more easily recognized because they cause an obvious disruption in the client's daily functioning (Franz et al., 2010; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Martin et al., 2018; Mishra et al., 2021; Nishii et al., 2010). When symptoms are recognized as requiring medical treatment, clients and caregivers exhibited a higher perceived need for support, which was usually when they accessed support from emergency services because the client's needs escalate. Similar to the results from previous research (Mishra et al., 2021; Nishii et al., 2010), the current study found that clients and caregivers typically sought support after their symptoms worsened or escalated into the active phase of psychosis. The current study's results suggest that clients and caregivers commonly missed the early prodromal symptoms of psychosis, and did not associate them with FEP or another mental illness. Family doctors and EPI clinicians described that the early symptoms of psychosis are often overlooked and attributed to typical adolescent behaviours and changes. This insight from the current study has been highlighted in previous research and supports the notion that the early signs and symptoms of psychosis are difficult to recognize, and that the general public has low levels of psychosis literacy (Franz et al., 2010; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Hastrup et al., 2018; Jansen et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2019; McGorry et al., 2008; Perkins et al., 2005; Rietdijk et al., 2011; Yarborough et al., 2019). As a result, there is a low perceived need for support during this period, and clients tend to not seek support until symptoms worsen. The results of the current study suggest that symptoms of psychosis are likely to be recognized as a psychotic disorder when clients and caregivers have previous family experience with psychosis. This finding is similar to the results from Chen et al. (2005) and Lloyd-Evans et al. (2011), who identified that personal and previous family experience with psychosis can positively influence symptom recognition and help-seeking behaviour. This may be because clients and caregivers

are more aware of how symptoms of psychosis can manifest given their prior experience with it and as a result, are better informed to seek appropriate services in a timely manner (Lloyd-Evans et al., 2011; Yu-Hai Chen et al., 2005).

Another barrier to recognizing the symptoms of psychosis and seeking help was stigma. Clients and caregivers tended to hold negative, stigmatizing perceptions of psychotic disorders and mental disorders. The impact of psychosis stigma has been widely studied globally and is recognized as a barrier to help-seeking and symptom recognition (Addington et al., 2012; Ahmed et al., 2020; Apeldoorn et al., 2014; Burke et al., 2016; Franz et al., 2010; Gronholm et al., 2017; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Hui et al., 2019; Kular et al., 2019; Moudatsou et al., 2021). It is possible that the perceived stigma and misconceptions that clients and caregivers internalize may have been responsible for the rhetorical comments and inappropriate humour present during the interviews, such as clients referring to themselves as being "crazy." This prevents clients and caregivers from seeking appropriate services in a timely manner because they fear being labelled with a psychiatric disorder and are embarrassed. This insight is similar to several previous studies (Addington et al., 2012; Ahmed et al., 2020; Gronholm et al., 2017; Martin et al., 2018). It is essential to remove the taboo factor through increased public education and awareness of psychosis.

#### 5.1.3 Information Needs

The findings from the current study emphasize that there should be more information regarding symptoms, manifestations, causes, and prognosis of psychosis. This aligns with several previous studies (Calderon et al., 2015; Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Joa et al., 2007; Kumar et al., 2019; Sutton et al., 2018). Specifically, it was expressed that clients and caregivers wanted more information related to the causes and prognosis of psychosis, symptoms of early psychosis, particularly the negative symptoms, and how psychosis can manifest for different people. Several studies report that targeted informational campaigns and early detection can improve psychosis symptom recognition and promote timely treatment (Hastrup et al., 2018; Lloyd-Evans et al., 2011; McGorry et al., 2007). Family doctors and EPI clinicians also emphasized that clients and caregivers should know about the increasing prevalence of substance-induced psychosis and how it may influence future psychotic episodes. A meta-analysis conducted by Lecomte et al. (2018) suggests that substance-induced psychosis is

becoming a common cause of psychosis, and echoes the concerns of various service providers interviewed for the current study that cannabis use can trigger psychosis symptoms. The results of the meta-analysis also highlight that there should be an increased focus on family education for psychosis (Lecomte et al., 2018). Family doctors and EPI clinicians in the current study outlined the importance of family education and the family's role in supporting and advocating for their family member experiencing psychosis. This can result in the client feeling supported as they seek services and treatment. This insight aligns with several previous findings that suggest that family support when seeking psychosis services can act as a facilitator for treatment seeking and treatment retention. (Del Vecchio et al., 2015; Goulding et al., 2008; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Martin et al., 2018; Morgan et al., 2006; Selick et al., 2017). The current findings also suggest that there is insufficient information available regarding services for clients experiencing symptoms of psychosis. Clients, caregivers, and service providers expressed the difficulties they faced when navigating services for psychosis, and how a lack of knowledge delays timely treatment. Several studies support the conclusion that clients and caregivers are unsure of the processes to receive treatment and often experience frustration when they are not supported by services (Cheng et al., 2020; Hasan & Musleh, 2017; Martin et al., 2018). The findings from the current study outline that clients felt they should have been provided with appropriate referrals and services earlier. This highlights that increased efforts in educating the general public regarding what services are available for clients and when they should access them when they suspect a client is experiencing symptoms of psychosis may be beneficial. The lack of knowledge on available supports for caregivers is a barrier and can lead to the caregiver experiencing several negative emotions, which is also described by Kumar et al. (2019).

#### 5.1.4 Contributions to Future Research

The findings from the current study add to the knowledge of how to improve the early recognition of psychosis, and what information clients and caregivers need as they manage a psychosis diagnosis. Although the current findings were derived from a conventional content analysis and are limited in theory development, they align with several recent studies, thus promoting the theoretical and practical significance.

Although there are several recent studies citing the importance of client and caregiver education globally, this study adds to the specific context of psychosis service navigation in

Ontario, of factors influencing help-seeking behaviours and early psychosis treatment, and the importance of educating clients and caregivers early in the course of illness to enhance and improve treatment outcomes. Another important factor is that this study aimed to understand the information needs of clients and caregivers based on the perspectives of clients, caregivers, family doctors, and EPI clinicians. To the author's knowledge, these diverse perspectives have not been integrated into a single study before.

Future research could explore the implementation of targeted educational campaigns within Ontario that focus on the early recognition of symptoms of psychosis by clients and caregivers, and the impacts on perceived stigma. Another research direction is to develop a better understanding of where clients are most likely to receive their mental health information and how to make those sources more effective. EPI programs should continue to provide psychoeducation for clients and families regarding what psychosis. This includes a strong understanding of early psychosis symptoms, knowledge of services available for both clients and caregivers, and referrals for services to facilitate service seeking for clients and caregivers.

#### 5.2 Limitations

There are several limitations to this study, given that it is a conventional content analysis of secondary interview data. Typically, secondary data analyses can lead to concerns related to the credibility of the data based on how the primary data were collected (Tripathy, 2013). To ensure trustworthiness of data, the first author confirmed all recruitment and data collection procedures with the project coordinator of the parent study. In addition, further confirmation was received from the supervisory committee, as they were also involved in the parent study. Another limitation of a secondary data analysis is that the data collected may be limited in relevance for the scope of the secondary study (Tripathy, 2013). This is because the interview guide of the parent study is often not related to the research questions guiding the secondary analysis. As a result, the data may not contain relevant information. The interview guide for the qualitative portion of the mixed methods parent study was developed based on the quantitative findings of the parent study (Anderson et al., 2018a). Due to this, the interview guide was focused specifically on the family doctor's role in the recognition and diagnosis of psychosis and their ability to co-manage clients with specialized services. Clients and caregivers were mostly asked

questions related to their experience with seeking services and the amount of support they received from their family doctor. Considering this, any narratives related to the current study's research questions were in response to other questions. This shows that even indirectly, educating clients and caregivers and supporting service navigation were prevalent concerns among clients, caregivers, and clinicians involved in early psychosis intervention. Thus, the secondary analysis had sufficient information to saturate and stabilize categories. In addition, prior to confirming the research question, the project coordinator, who has been immersed and familiarized with the data, confirmed that the topic of this study was feasible with the interview data (Tracy, 2010).

Because this study analyzed interview data, it is important to recognize the limitations associated with interviews as well. Interviews can have response bias in which interviewees only participate because they have something to say, thus it may not be representative of the entire population (Tripathy, 2013). Although this is a conventional content analysis based in the natural interpretive paradigm, and therefore the sample is not required to achieve representativeness, it would have been beneficial if more caregiver voices were included (Tracy, 2010). Because this was a secondary analysis, this cannot be controlled for the current study. The first author attempted to reconceptualize the data as much as possible by reviewing background literature about the parent study as well as analyzing beyond what the clients, caregivers, and service providers were saying to also consider what they were not mentioning and why. The inclusion of rich, detailed, and descriptive quotes promotes transferability of results for readers to relate with them with their own lives, allowing for resonance to be achieved (Tracy, 2010).

One limitation regarding implications for the credibility of the current results is that the first author was not able to conduct member reflections to confirm the findings with the interviewees to ensure the themes adequately portray their experiences and perspectives (Tracy, 2010). The results were reviewed by the supervisory committee.

Conventional content analyses are also limited for theory development and determining theoretical relationships between concepts. It only allows for the development of concepts (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005). A conventional content analysis was the best analytic approach for the current study because it was a secondary data analysis that aimed to describe a phenomenon that

did not conform to a pre-existing theory and had limited literature. To draw further conclusions, the implicit, tacit knowledge based on what was not said during interviews was also considered (Tracy, 2010). This allowed for appropriate concept development, which is the primary outcome of a conventional content analysis (Hsieh & Shannon, 2005).

#### 5.3 Conclusion

The current study draws attention to the information needs of clients and caregivers that the participants considered to be important for accessing treatment and services related to early psychosis. Clients, caregivers, family doctors, and EPI clinicians shared several similar thoughts in regard to what clients and caregivers should know about early psychosis, which includes how symptoms can manifest, when and where to seek treatment, and how caregivers can support themselves. Targeted psychosis-related education for the general public may impact the low levels of psychosis literacy.

#### References

- Addington, D., Berzins, S., & Yeo, M. (2012). Psychosis Literacy in a Canadian Health Region: Results from a General Population Sample. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *57*(6), 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371205700608
- *Adolescent health.* (n.d.). Retrieved March 3, 2023, from https://www.who.int/health-topics/adolescent-health
- Ahmed, S., Birtel, M. D., Pyle, M., & Morrison, A. P. (2020). Stigma towards psychosis: Cross-cultural differences in prejudice, stereotypes, and discrimination in White British and South Asians. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, *30*(2), 199–213. https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2437
- Akçay Oruç, G., & Gültekin, B. K. (2018). The critical period in patients with psychosis: "Duration of Untreated Psychosis" and social determinants. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 21(2), 177–183. https://doi.org/10.5505/kpd.2018.38258
- Anderson, K. K., Archie, S., Booth, R. G., Cheng, C., Lizotte, D., MacDougall, A. G., Norman, R. M. G., Ryan, B. L., Terry, A. L., & Rodrigues, R. (2018a). Understanding the role of the family physician in early psychosis intervention. *BJPsych Open*, *4*(6), 447–453. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjo.2018.67
- Anderson, K. K., Fuhrer, R., & Malla, A. K. (2010). The pathways to mental health care of first-episode psychosis patients: A systematic review. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(10), 1585–1597. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291710000371
- Anderson, K. K., Fuhrer, R., & Malla, A. K. (2013a). "There are too many steps before you get to where you need to be": Help-seeking by patients with first-episode psychosis. *Journal of Mental Health*, 22(4), 384–395. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638237.2012.705922
- Anderson, K. K., Fuhrer, R., Wynant, W., Abrahamowicz, M., Buckeridge, D. L., & Malla, A. (2013b). Patterns of health services use prior to a first diagnosis of psychosis: The importance of primary care. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 48(9), 1389–1398. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-013-0665-3
- Anderson, K. K., Norman, R., MacDougall, A., Edwards, J., Palaniyappan, L., Lau, C., & Kurdyak, P. (2018b). Effectiveness of Early Psychosis Intervention: Comparison of Service Users and Nonusers in Population-Based Health Administrative Data. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 175(5), 443–452. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17050480
- Apeldoorn, S. Y., Sterk, B., van den Heuvel, E. R., Schoevers, R. A., Islam, M. A., Bruggeman, R., Cahn, W., de Haan, L., Kahn, R. S., Meijer, C. J., Myin-Germeys, I., van Os, J., & Wiersma, D. (2014). Factors contributing to the duration of untreated psychosis. *Schizophrenia Research*, *158*(1–3), 76–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2014.07.002
- Archie, S., Akhtar-Danesh, N., Norman, R., Malla, A., Roy, P., & Zipursky, R. B. (2010). Ethnic Diversity and Pathways to Care for a First Episode of Psychosis in Ontario. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *36*(4), 688–701. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbn137
- Aref-Adib, G., O'Hanlon, P., Fullarton, K., Morant, N., Sommerlad, A., Johnson, S., & Osborn, D. (2016). A qualitative study of online mental health information seeking behaviour by those with psychosis. *BMC Psychiatry*, *16*(1), 232. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0952-0
- Arora, P. G., & Khoo, O. (2020). Sources of Stress and Barriers to Mental Health Service Use Among Asian Immigrant-Origin Youth: A Qualitative Exploration. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 29(9), 2590–2601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-020-01765-7

- Berger, G., Fraser, R., Carbone, S., & McGorry, P. (2006). Emerging psychosis in young people Part 1: Key issues for detection and assessment. *Australian Family Physician*, *35*(5), 315–321.
- Bignall, W. J. R., Jacquez, F., & Vaughn, L. M. (2015). Attributions of Mental Illness: An Ethnically Diverse Community Perspective. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *51*(5), 540–545. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-014-9820-x
- Birnbaum, M. L., Candan, K., Libby, I., Pascucci, O., & Kane, J. (2016). Impact of online resources and social media on help-seeking behaviour in youth with psychotic symptoms. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *10*(5), 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12179
- Breitborde, N. J. K., Srihari, V. H., & Woods, S. W. (2009). Review of the operational definition for first-episode psychosiseip. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *3*(4), 259–265. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7893.2009.00148.x
- Burke, E., Wood, L., Zabel, E., Clark, A., & Morrison, A. P. (2016). Experiences of stigma in psychosis: A qualitative analysis of service users' perspectives. *Psychosis*, 8(2), 130–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/17522439.2015.1115541
- Calderon, V., Cain, R., Torres, E., & Lopez, S. R. (2022). Evaluating the message of an ongoing communication campaign to reduce the duration of untreated psychosis in a Latinx community in the United States. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *16*(2), 147–152. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.13140
- Calderon, V., Mejia, Y., Mar&iacute, Lara-Mu&ntilde, a del C., oz, Segoviano, J., Castro, Q., Casados, A., L&oacute, S. R., & pez. (2015). Towards the sustainability of information campaigns: Training Promotores to increase the psychosis literacy of Spanish-speaking communities. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 50(4), 665–670. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-014-0992-z
- Caplan, S. (2019). Intersection of Cultural and Religious Beliefs About Mental Health: Latinos in the Faith-Based Setting. *Hispanic Health Care International*, *17*(1), 4–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/1540415319828265
- Casas, R. N., Gonzales, E., Aldana-Aragón, E., Lara-Muñoz, M. del C., Kopelowicz, A., Link to external site, this link will open in a new window, Andrews, L., & López, S. R. (2014). Toward the early recognition of psychosis among Spanish-speaking adults on both sides of the U.S.–Mexico border. *Psychological Services*, *11*(4), 460–469. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038017
- Cheng, S. C., Backonja, U., Buck, B., Monroe-DeVita, M., & Walsh, E. (2020). Facilitating pathways to care: A qualitative study of the self-reported needs and coping skills of caregivers of young adults diagnosed with early psychosis. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 27(4), 368–379. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpm.12591
- Chong, S. A., Abdin, E., Picco, L., Pang, S., Jeyagurunathan, A., Vaingankar, J. A., Kwok, K. W., & Subramaniam, M. (2016). Recognition of mental disorders among a multiracial population in Southeast Asia. *BMC Psychiatry*, *16*(1), 121. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-016-0837-2
- Chong, S.-A., Mythily, Lum, A., Chan, Y. H., & McGorry, P. (2005). Determinants of Duration of Untreated Psychosis and the Pathway to Care in Singapore. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *51*(1), 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764005053278
- Compton, M. T., Chien, V. H., Leiner, A. S., Goulding, S. M., & Weiss, P. S. (2008). Mode of onset of psychosis and family involvement in help-seeking as determinants of duration of

- untreated psychosis. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *43*(12), 975–982. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-008-0397-y
- COVID-19 Mental Disorders Collaborators. (2021). Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet (London, England)*, 398(10312), 1700–1712. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02143-7
- Del Vecchio, V., Luciano, M., Sampogna, G., De Rosa, C., Giacco, D., Tarricone, I., Catapano, F., & Fiorillo, A. (2015). The role of relatives in pathways to care of patients with a first episode of psychosis. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *61*(7), 631–637. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764014568129
- Dixon De Silva, L. E., Ponting, C., Ramos, G., Cornejo Guevara, M. V., & Chavira, D. A. (2020). Urban Latinx parents' attitudes towards mental health: Mental health literacy and service use. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *109*, 104719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.104719
- DSM-5, American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. https://dsm.psychiatryonline.org/doi/epdf/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Dutta, M., Spoorthy, M., Patel, S., & Agarwala, N. (2019). Factors responsible for delay in treatment seeking in patients with psychosis: A qualitative study. *Indian Journal of Psychiatry*, 61(1), 53–53.
- Ferrara, M., Guloksuz, S., Mathis, W. S., Li, F., Lin, I.-H., Syed, S., Gallagher, K., Shah, J., Kline, E., Tek, C., Keshavan, M., & Srihari, V. H. (2021). First help-seeking attempt before and after psychosis onset: Measures of delay and aversive pathways to care. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *56*(8), 1359–1369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-021-02090-0
- Franz, L., Carter, T., Leiner, A. S., Bergner, E., Thompson, N. J., & Compton, M. T. (2010). Stigma and treatment delay in first-episode psychosis: A grounded theory study. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *4*(1), 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7893.2009.00155.x
- Fusar-Poli, P., McGorry, P. D., & Kane, J. M. (2017). Improving outcomes of first-episode psychosis: An overview. *World Psychiatry*, *16*(3), 251–265. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20446
- Ghali, S., Fisher, H. L., Joyce, J., Major, B., Hobbs, L., Soni, S., Chisholm, B., Rahaman, N., Papada, P., Lawrence, J., Bloy, S., Marlowe, K., Aitchison, K. J., Power, P., & Johnson, S. (2013). Ethnic variations in pathways into early intervention services for psychosis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 202(4), 277–283. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.111.097865
- Goulding, S. M., Leiner, A. S., Thompson, N. J., Weiss, P. S., Kaslow, N. J., & Compton, M. T. (2008). Family strengths: A potential determinant of the duration of untreated psychosis among hospitalized African-American first-episode patients. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 2(3), 162–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7893.2008.00073.x
- Gronholm, P. C., Thornicroft, G., Laurens, K. R., & Evans-Lacko, S. (2017). Mental health-related stigma and pathways to care for people at risk of psychotic disorders or experiencing first-episode psychosis: A systematic review. *Psychological Medicine*, 47(11), 1867–1879. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717000344
- Hardy, K. V., Noordsy, D. L., Ballon, J. S., McGovern, M. P., Salomon, C., & Wiltsey Stirman, S. (2018). Impact of age of onset of psychosis and engagement in higher education on

- duration of untreated psychosis. *Journal of Mental Health*, 27(3), 257–262. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2018.1466047
- Hasan, A. A., & Musleh, M. (2017). Barriers to Seeking Early Psychiatric Treatment amongst First-episode Psychosis Patients: A Qualitative Study. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 38(8), 669–677. https://doi.org/10.1080/01612840.2017.1317307
- Hastrup, L. H., Haahr, U. H., Jansen, J. E., & Simonsen, E. (2018). Determinants of duration of untreated psychosis among first-episode psychosis patients in Denmark: A nationwide register-based study. *Schizophrenia Research*, *192*, 154–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2017.05.026
- He, E., Eldeeb, S. Y., Cardemil, E. V., & Yang, L. H. (2020). Psychosis risk stigma and help-seeking: Attitudes of Chinese and Taiwanese residing in the United States. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 14(1), 97–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12830
- Herrera, S. N., Sarac, C., Phili, A., Gorman, J., Martin, L., Lyallpuri, R., Dobbs, M. F., DeLuca, J. S., Mueser, K. T., Wyka, K. E., Yang, L. H., Landa, Y., & Corcoran, C. M. (2023). Psychoeducation for individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis: A scoping review. *Schizophrenia Research*, 252, 148–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2023.01.008
- Hui, C. L. M., Leung, W. W. T., Wong, A. K. H., Loong, K. Y., Kok, J., Hwang, A., Lee, E. H. M., Chan, S. K. W., Chang, W. C., & Chen, E. Y. H. (2019). Destignatizing psychosis: Investigating the effectiveness of a school-based programme in Hong Kong secondary school students. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 13(4), 882–887. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12692
- Isaacs, A. N., Pyett, P., Oakley-Browne, M. A., Gruis, H., & Waples-Crowe, P. (2010). Barriers and facilitators to the utilization of adult mental health services by Australia's Indigenous people: Seeking a way forward. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, *19*(2), 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0349.2009.00647.x
- Jansen, J. E., Wøldike, P. M., Haahr, U. H., & Simonsen, E. (2015). Service User Perspectives on the Experience of Illness and Pathway to Care in First-Episode Psychosis: A Qualitative Study Within the TOP Project. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 86(1), 83–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-014-9332-4
- Joa, I., Johannessen, J. O., Auestad, B., Friis, S., McGlashan, T., Melle, I., Opjordsmoen, S., Simonsen, E., Vaglum, P., & Larsen, T. K. (2007). The Key to Reducing Duration of Untreated First Psychosis: Information Campaigns. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *34*(3), 466–472. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbm095
- Jorm, A. F. (2000). Mental health literacy: Public knowledge and beliefs about mental disorders. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *177*(5), 396–401. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.177.5.396
- Jorm, A. F. (2012). Mental health literacy: Empowering the community to take action for better mental health. *American Psychologist*, 67(3), 231–243. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0025957
- Keshavan, M. S., Torous, J., & Tandon, R. (2020). C1Conceptualization of psychosis in psychiatric nosology: Past, present, and the future. In M. S. Keshavan, J. Torous, R. Tandon, C. A. Tamminga, J. van Os, U. Reininghaus, & E. Ivleva (Eds.), *Psychotic Disorders: Comprehensive Conceptualization and Treatments* (p. 0). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/med/9780190653279.003.0001
- Kessler, R. C., Amminger, G. P., Aguilar-Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Lee, S., & Ustun, T. B. (2007). Age of onset of mental disorders: A review of recent literature. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 20(4), 359–364. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.0b013e32816ebc8c

- Kular, A., Perry, B. I., Brown, L., Gajwani, R., Jasini, R., Islam, Z., Birchwood, M., & Singh, S. P. (2019). Stigma and access to care in first-episode psychosis. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *13*(5), 1208–1213. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12756
- Kumar, G., Sood, M., Verma, R., Mahapatra, A., & Chadda, R. K. (2019). Family caregivers' needs of young patients with first episode psychosis: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 65(5), 435–442. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764019852650
- Lecomte, T., Addington, J., Bowie, C., Lepage, M., Potvin, S., Shah, J., Summerville, C., & Tibbo, P. (2022). The Canadian Network for Research in Schizophrenia and Psychoses: A Nationally Focused Approach to Psychosis and Schizophrenia Research. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie*, 67(3), 172–175. https://doi.org/10.1177/07067437211009122
- Lecomte, T., Dumais, A., Dugré, J. R., & Potvin, S. (2018). The prevalence of substance-induced psychotic disorder in methamphetamine misusers: A meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Research*, 268, 189–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.05.033
- Lloyd-Evans, B., Crosby, M., Stockton, S., Pilling, S., Hobbs, L., Hinton, M., & Johnson, S. (2011). Initiatives to shorten duration of untreated psychosis: Systematic review. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *198*(4), 256–263. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.109.075622
- López, S. R., Gamez, D., Mejia, Y., Calderon, V., Lopez, D., Ullman, J. B., & Kopelowicz, A. (2018). Psychosis Literacy Among Latinos With First-Episode Psychosis and Their Caregivers. *Psychiatric Services*, 69(11), 1153–1159. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201700400
- López, S. R., Lara, M. del C., Kopelowicz, A., Link to external site, this link will open in a new window, Solano, S., Foncerrada, H., Aguilera, A., & Link to external site, this link will open in a new window. (2009). La CLAve to increase psychosis literacy of Spanish-speaking community residents and family caregivers. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 77(4), 763–774. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016031
- Lu, W., Todhunter-Reid, A., Mitsdarffer, M. L., Muñoz-Laboy, M., Yoon, A. S., & Xu, L. (2021). Barriers and Facilitators for Mental Health Service Use Among Racial/Ethnic Minority Adolescents: A Systematic Review of Literature. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9, 641605. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.641605
- Marshall, M., Lewis, S., Lockwood, A., Drake, R., Jones, P., & Croudace, T. (2005). Association Between Duration of Untreated Psychosis and Outcome in Cohorts of First-Episode Patients: A Systematic Review. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(9), 975–983. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.9.975
- Martin, I. dos S., Ciccone Giacon, B. C., Giacchero Vedana, K. G., Guidorizzi Zanetti, A. C., Fendrich, L., & Frari Galera, S. A. (2018). Where to seek help? Barriers to beginning treatment during the first-episode psychosis. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 5(3), 249–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2018.06.007
- Mcgorry, P. D. (2005). Early intervention in psychotic disorders: Beyond debate to solving problems. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *187*(S48), s108–s110. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.187.48.s108
- McGorry, P. D., Killackey, E., & Yung, A. (2008). Early intervention in psychosis: Concepts, evidence and future directions. *World Psychiatry: Official Journal of the World Psychiatric Association (WPA)*, 7(3), 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2051-5545.2008.tb00182.x

- McGorry, P. D., Killackey, E., & Yung, A. R. (2007). Early intervention in psychotic disorders: Detection and treatment of the first episode and the critical early stages. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 187(S7), S8–S10. https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.tb01327.x
- McGorry, P., Johanessen, J. O., Lewis, S., Birchwood, M., Malla, A., Nordentoft, M., Addington, J., & Yung, A. (2010). Early intervention in psychosis: Keeping faith with evidence-based health care: A commentary on: 'Early intervention in psychotic disorders: faith before facts?' by Bosanac *et al* . (). *Psychological Medicine*, 40(3), 399–404. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291709991346
- Memon, A., Taylor, K., Mohebati, L. M., Sundin, J., Cooper, M., Scanlon, T., & de Visser, R. (2016). Perceived barriers to accessing mental health services among black and minority ethnic (BME) communities: A qualitative study in Southeast England. *BMJ Open*, *6*(11), e012337. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012337
- Mishra, A., Soni, A. B., Umate, M. S., & Andrade, C. (2021). An exploratory evaluation of predictors of duration of untreated psychosis in first-episode psychosis in lower income patients. *Psychiatry Research*, *305*, 114203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114203
- Morgan, C., Abdul-Al, R., Lappin, J. M., Jones, P., Fearon, P., Leese, M., Croudace, T., Morgan, K., Dazzan, P., Craig, T., Leff, J., Murray, R., & AESOP Study Group. (2006). Clinical and social determinants of duration of untreated psychosis in the AESOP first-episode psychosis study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science*, *189*, 446–452. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.106.021303
- Moschkovich, J. N. A Naturalistic Paradigm: An Introduction to Using Ethnographic Methods for Research in Mathematics Education. (2019). *Compendium for Early Career Researchers in Mathematics Education*, 59.
- Moudatsou, M., Koukouli, S., Palioka, E., Pattakou, G., Teleme, P., Fasoi, G., Kaba, E., & Stavropoulou, A. (2021). Caring for Patients with Psychosis: Mental Health Professionals' Views on Informal Caregivers' Needs. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(6), 2964. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18062964
- Mueser, K. T., DeTore, N. R., Kredlow, M. A., Bourgeois, M. L., Penn, D. L., & Hintz, K. (2020). Clinical and demographic correlates of stigma in first-episode psychosis: The impact of duration of untreated psychosis. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *141*(2), 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1111/acps.13102
- Myaba, J., Mwale, C. M., & Jumbe, V. C. (2021). Clinical Predictors of Duration of Untreated Psychosis: Exploring Psychosocial and Clinical Predictors of Duration of Untreated Psychosis in First-Episode Psychotic Patients in Mzuzu, Malawi. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 33(Postgraduate Supplementary Iss), 23–29. https://doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v33iS.5
- Nanda, P., Tandon, N., Mathew, I. T., Padmanabhan, J. L., Clementz, B. A., Pearlson, G. D., Sweeney, J. A., Tamminga, C. A., & Keshavan, M. S. (2016). Impulsivity across the psychosis spectrum: Correlates of cortical volume, suicidal history, and social and global function. *Schizophrenia Research*, *170*(1), 80–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2015.11.030
- Nishii, H., Yamazawa, R., Shimodera, S., Suzuki, M., Hasegawa, T., & Mizuno, M. (2010). Clinical and social determinants of a longer duration of untreated psychosis of

- schizophrenia in a Japanese population. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *4*(2), 182–188. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7893.2010.00179.x
- Nkire, N., Sardinha, S., Nwosu, B., McDonough, C. M., De Coteau, P. A., Duffy, I., Waddington, J. L., & Russell, V. (2015). Evaluation of knowledge and attitudes among primary care physicians in Cavan–Monaghan as 'gatekeepers-in-waiting' for the introduction of Carepath for Overcoming Psychosis Early (COPE). *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 9(2), 141–150. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12069
- Norman, R. M. G., Lewis, S. W., & Marshall, M. (2005). Duration of untreated psychosis and its relationship to clinical outcome. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *187*(S48), s19–s23. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.187.48.s19
- O'Connell, N., O'Connor, K., McGrath, D., Vagge, L., Mockler, D., Jennings, R., & Darker, C. D. (2022). Early Intervention in Psychosis services: A systematic review and narrative synthesis of the barriers and facilitators to implementation. *European Psychiatry*, 65(1), e2. https://doi.org/10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.2260
- Onwumere, J., & Kuipers, E. (2018). Psychosis and the family: The role of family interventions. In *Treatment response and resistance in schizophrenia* (pp. 109–127). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/med/9780198828761.001.0001
- Park, C., Loy, J. H., Lillis, S., & Menkes, D. B. (2022). What stops Korean immigrants from accessing child and adolescent mental health services? *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *16*(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-022-00455-0
- Park, S. Y., Cho, S., Park, Y., Bernstein, K. S., & Shin, J. K. (2013). Factors Associated with Mental Health Service Utilization Among Korean American Immigrants. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 49(6), 765–773. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-013-9604-8
- Penttilä, M., Jääskeläinen, E., Hirvonen, N., Isohanni, M., & Miettunen, J. (2014). Duration of untreated psychosis as predictor of long-term outcome in schizophrenia: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 205(2), 88–94. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.113.127753
- Perkins, D. O., Gu, H., Boteva, K., & Lieberman, J. A. (2005). Relationship Between Duration of Untreated Psychosis and Outcome in First-Episode Schizophrenia: A Critical Review and Meta-Analysis. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *162*(10), 1785–1804. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.10.1785
- Raymont, V. (2001). Suicide in schizophrenia how can research influence training and clinical practice? *Psychiatric Bulletin*, 25(2), 46–50. https://doi.org/10.1192/pb.25.2.46
- Reed, S. I. (2008). First-episode psychosis: A literature review. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 17(2), 85–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0349.2008.00515.x
- Rehm, J., & Shield, K. D. (2019). Global Burden of Disease and the Impact of Mental and Addictive Disorders. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21(2), 10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-0997-0
- Rietdijk, J., Dragt, S., Klaassen, R., Ising, H., Nieman, D., Wunderink, L., Delespaul, P., Cuijpers, P., Linszen, D., & van der Gaag, M. (2010). A single blind randomized controlled trial of cognitive behavioural therapy in a help-seeking population with an At Risk Mental State for psychosis: The Dutch Early Detection and Intervention Evaluation (EDIE-NL) trial. *Trials*, 11(1), 30. https://doi.org/10.1186/1745-6215-11-30
- Rietdijk, J., Hogerzeil, S. J., van Hemert, A. M., Cuijpers, P., Linszen, D. H., & van der Gaag, M. (2011). Pathways to psychosis: Help-seeking behavior in the prodromal phase.

- Schizophrenia Research, 132(2–3), 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2011.08.009
- Rogler, L. H., & Cortes, D. E. (1993). Help-seeking pathways: A unifying concept in mental health care. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *150*(4), 554–561. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.150.4.554
- Ruggeri, M., Bonetto, C., Lasalvia, A., Fioritti, A., de Girolamo, G., Santonastaso, P., Pileggi, F., Neri, G., Ghigi, D., Giubilini, F., Miceli, M., Scarone, S., Cocchi, A., Torresani, S., Faravelli, C., Cremonese, C., Scocco, P., Leuci, E., Mazzi, F., ... GET UP Group. (2015). Feasibility and Effectiveness of a Multi-Element Psychosocial Intervention for First-Episode Psychosis: Results From the Cluster-Randomized Controlled GET UP PIANO Trial in a Catchment Area of 10 Million Inhabitants. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *41*(5), 1192–1203. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbv058
- Saasa, S. K., Rai, A., Malazarte, N., & Yirenya-Tawiah, A. E. (2021). Mental health service utilization among African immigrants in the United States. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 49(6), 2144–2161. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22602
- Salami, B., Salma, J., & Hegadoren, K. (2019). Access and utilization of mental health services for immigrants and refugees: Perspectives of immigrant service providers. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 28(1), 152–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.12512
- Schoer, N., Rodrigues, R., Reid, J., Ryan, B. L., Lizotte, D. J., Booth, R., MacDougall, A. G., Kurdyak, P., & Anderson, K. K. (2021). Patterns of Primary Care Use Prior to a First Diagnosis of Nonaffective Psychotic Disorder in Ontario, Canada: Modèles d'utilisation des soins de première ligne avant un premier diagnostic de trouble psychotique non affectif en Ontario, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry. Revue Canadienne De Psychiatrie*, 66(4), 406–417. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743720961732
- Selick, A., Durbin, J., Vu, N., O'Connor, K., Volpe, T., & Lin, E. (2017). Barriers and facilitators to implementing family support and education in Early Psychosis Intervention programmes: A systematic review. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, 11(5), 365–374. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12400
- Souaiby, L., Gauthier, C., Kazes, M., Mam-Lam-Fook, C., Daban, C., Plaze, M., Gaillard, R., Group, the I. study, & Krebs, M.-O. (2019). Individual factors influencing the duration of untreated psychosis. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *13*(4), 798–804. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12562
- Sutton, M., O'Keeffe, D., Frawley, T., Madigan, K., Fanning, F., Lawlor, E., Roche, E., Kelly, A., Turner, N., Horenstein, A., O'Callaghan, E., & Clarke, M. (2018). Feasibility of a psychosis information intervention to improve mental health literacy for professional groups in contact with young people. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *12*(2), 234–239. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12410
- Thomson, M. S., Chaze, F., George, U., & Guruge, S. (2015). Improving Immigrant Populations' Access to Mental Health Services in Canada: A Review of Barriers and Recommendations. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *17*(6), 1895–1905. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-015-0175-3
- Tieu, Y., Konnert, C., & Wang, J. (2010). Depression literacy among older Chinese immigrants in Canada: A comparison with a population-based survey. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 22(8), 1318–1326. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610210001511
- Torres Stone, R. A., Cardemil, E. V., Keefe, K., Bik, P., Dyer, Z., & Clark, K. E. (2020a). A Community Mental Health Needs Assessment of a Racially and Ethnically Diverse

- Population in New England: Narratives from Community Stakeholders. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *56*(5), 947–958. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-020-00562-2
- Torres Stone, R. A., Cardemil, E. V., Keefe, K., Bik, P., Dyer, Z., & Clark, K. E. (2020b). A Community Mental Health Needs Assessment of a Racially and Ethnically Diverse Population in New England: Narratives from Community Stakeholders. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *56*(5), 947–958. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-020-00562-2
- Tripathy, J. P. (2013). Secondary Data Analysis: Ethical Issues and Challenges. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, 42(12), 1478–1479.
- Välimäki, M., Anttila, M., Hätönen, H., Koivunen, M., Jakobsson, T., Pitkänen, A., Herrala, J., & Kuosmanen, L. (2008). Design and development process of patient-centered computer-based support system for patients with schizophrenia spectrum psychosis. *Informatics for Health and Social Care*, 33(2), 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538150802127207
- Valmaggia, L. R., Byrne, M., Day, F., Broome, M. R., Johns, L., Howes, O., Power, P., Badger, S., Fusar-Poli, P., & McGuire, P. K. (2015). Duration of untreated psychosis and need for admission in patients who engage with mental health services in the prodromal phase. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 207(2), 130–134. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.114.150623
- Wang, C., Cramer, K. M., Cheng, H.-L., & Do, K. A. (2019). Associations Between Depression Literacy and Help-Seeking Behavior for Mental Health Services Among High School Students. *School Mental Health*, *11*(4), 707–718. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-019-09325-1
- Yarborough, B. J., Yarborough, M. T., & Cavese, J. C. (2019). Factors that hindered care seeking among people with a first diagnosis of psychosis. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry*, *13*(5), 1220–1226. https://doi.org/10.1111/eip.12758
- Yeo, M., Berzins, S., & Addington, D. (2006). Development of an early psychosis public education program using the PRECEDE PROCEED model. *Health Education Research*, 22(5), 639–647. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyl126
- Yu, Y., Liu, Z., Hu, M., Liu, H., Yang, J. P., Zhou, L., & Xiao, S. (2015). Mental Health Help-Seeking Intentions and Preferences of Rural Chinese Adults. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(11), e0141889. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141889
- Yu-Hai Chen, E., Dunn, E. L.-W., Miao, M. Y.-K., Yeung, W.-S., Wong, C.-K., Chan, W.-F., Yuk-Lun Chen, R., Chung, K.-F., & Tang, W.-N. (2005). The impact of family experience on the duration of untreated psychosis (DUP) in Hong Kong. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 40(5), 350–356. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-005-0908-z

#### Curriculum Vitae

Name: Tanvin Juneja

Post-secondary Education and

University of Toronto

Honours Bachelor of Science (with Distinction)

**Degrees** 2016-2021

Western University

Master of Health Information Science

2021-2023

Honours and Awards Western Graduate Research Scholarship

2021-2023

Related Work Experience

Graduate Teaching Assistant (Course: Research Methods in the

Digital Era)

Western University

2021-2023

**Knowledge Translation Consultant** 

Muslim Resource Centre for Support System Integration February 2022-December 2022, June 2023-Present

Knowledge Mobilization Specialist

London Middlesex Mental Health and Addiction Strategic

Direction Office March 2022-Present

Vital Signs Data Coordinator London Community Foundation

June 2022-March 2023

Equity Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Collaborative Member

Middlesex-London Ontario Health Team

October 2022-Present

**Licenses and Certifications** 

Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research

Involving Humans (TCPS 2: CORE 2022)

Western University Issued: March 2022

Specialist Knowledge Translation Training SickKids Centre for Community Mental Health Learning Institute Issued: September 2022

Chatham-Kent Addictions Awareness Conference: Why Gender Matters: Creating Trauma Informed Addictions Services (Keynote

Speaker: Dr. Stephanie Covington) Chatham-Kent Health Alliance

Issued: November 2022